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INTRODUCTION.

About a year since, the writer, in pursuance
of an agreement with the Editor of the Wau-
kegan Guzette, commnenced preparing the
following History or Statistical Account of
Lauke County, for the colunins of the Gazette,
at which time it was intended that the matter
wounld be ready for tlie pressin the early part
of lust wiuter, but the business affairs of the
writer has prevented him from laying it before
the public nutil the present time.

The work will Le divided into two parts;
first,consisting of generil observations;givinga
generul nccount of the County from its first
settlemment up tothe present time. Second, a
review of each town; giving the names
of the early settlers  of each,
with the date of setilement, together
with such incidents of the early sstilemeunts
as may prove interesting to the reader. Also,
such observations in relation to the geography
of each town as may be of interest, as well as
a briefreview of its advantages and resourcea.

For the purpose of obtaining this informa-
tion niore correctly,. the . writer has sent to
such of bis friends in tbe several towns ofthe
Connty as iwe thonght ight be best prepaiac

l‘.\



£ - INTRODUCTION,.

and most likely to afford him such assistanow
as he required, and feels himself under grear
obligation to them for the favor they have eon-
ferred, in responding so promptly and fully.

How tar the efforts of the writer will be
appreciated aud rewneded by the Citizens of
the Couuty, is yet to be determined. It was
suggested to him however, by an uld resident,
that the history of Lake County was weil
known to all its Citizens, tberefore to write
the matter out and luy it before them would be
folly in the extreme. Underthe circumsian-
ces, it could have no merits, and could not
therefure meet with fuvor. But it is not cor-
rect that the bistory of Lake @ounty is well
kunowa to every inhubitaut.  Ifso, the writer
could have saved a good shure of his time
and expense in preparing the following work.

On the coutrary he finds that even some of
the oldest inhabitunts, who certainly ought to
&know much of'the early history of'the Coun-
ty,and upou whom the writer thought he
could depend for much valunble inforaiation,
have now forgotten many importaut eveuts.

It hus been the intention  of the writer to
lay betors  the reader d fuir and  concise ac-
count of Like County ; consisting of & plain
statement of fucts, and having been reared in
the County frow his early boyhood, and hav-
ing froin sn early age been more or less engn-

wd in matrers of a public nuture, he flatiers
himself'that he iv in seine degree qualified for
such u tawk,

Iu the State of Connecticut and in fact in
most ofthe New England Swtes, nay be
found a tull history of every County, swelled
in tany instuniees 1o considersbly large vol-
‘s, wiid 80 minute are some of them as to
becciae a very satisfuctory relerence, even in
wnily genealogy. In preparing the following
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wvork the writer has adopted as a precedent, -
in some degree, the plan of the history of
Middlesex County, in the State of Connecti-
cut, written by Rev.David D. Field, the father
of the distinguished Dudly Field of'N. Y., and
published by the Connecticat Academy of
Arts and Sciences in 1819, which was placed
in the hands of the writer, by Dr, P.Dickinson
;‘f H;ineavillo, a Nephew of the Rev. Mr.
ield.

In a history of this kind, it has been eustom-
ary to begin with the Aborigines of the coun-
try—io remind the reader of their strong at-
tachment to their native soil,and the resting
place of their fathers, and the 1nany “wrongs
and injuries” which they bave received from
the hauds of their conquerors—the whites.

But as all this, as well as the ludian charac-
ter in general, is 50 well understood by every
one, the writer hus ventured, after a brief no-
tice, to pass the mnatter over ; trusting that his
production may not thereby prove the less
interesting to the reader. This portion ofthe
subject, is bowever, receiving full notice from
the uble pen of an esteemed friend E. 8. In-
gnlls, Esq., of Antioch, who is now writing a .
series of articles for the Waukegan Chronicle
upon the early history of the unty. The
therough acquaintance of Mr. Ingalls with the
Indian charucter, will enable him to doample
Jjustice to this portion of the subject.

The writer would also take this apportunity
of acknowledging his indebtedness to Wm.&.
Searls, . of Waukegan, for a valuable
work, entitled “Statistics of Dane County,
Wisconsin,” from which he has drawn many
important suggestions, tending to aid him in
arranging the following work,

He cannot fail further Yo acknowledge his
indebtedness to I. L. Clarke, Esq., late Prin-
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cipal ot the Waukegan Academy, for the
kind assistance he hasso cheerfully aﬂ'ord%
him.

The gratitude of the writer isalso justly due
to A. B. Coates, Esq., Clerk of the Circuit
Court, and Amos S. Watterinan, Esq., Clerk
of'the County Court, for their politeness and
cheerfulness in affording him such informa-
tian as he required, as might be of record in
their respective offices.

In many places the writer has had occasion
te make mention of the names of individuals
in connexion with his subjects, and in doing
80, it hus been his peculiar care to epesk cor-
rectly ; if thersfore any names should be
found to have been omitted, or any thing, in-
eorrectly stated, he hopes it may be over-
looked, and considered as unintentional upon

his part.
B E. M H.

HawesviLLe, Lake County, 11,2
Avugust 21st, 1852, {
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T2e ectatisucoment of Ihe I Pazegraph o pugs F
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(S'n e 43, iLivd p2-agraph, sevanth 1Uae, for “eught ss
b, rn‘d "ught‘ lv )/‘un'c ocen.” '

“ On pege 45, Aifh paragraph, 3d line, for “wertA,” read
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Oa page 5}, " for *'JuAn 1. Clarke. ' read
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On page 62, wr "“Judge of the court,” read *Judge the
oy Cougs, 5 80 " e f

On paga 74, ivs Y. % Milnimore,” read 4. I MBI
more,”!

Ou page &4. for “Gev-ge  Proutr,” read “George Proutys'
On page 50, foy 8. £. Jtation,” vead & P. Styattom
O35 pags S, lsurth paragraph, (or noon,'* read ‘‘eoom.”
@0 pags 93, fay “Thotior Amae”’ 3ead ‘Cherier Wilama' .
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CHAPTER L
GENERAL oB.lllV \_1'!08'-

Lake County lies atthe extreme northeast
of the Stute of lllinois, and is bounded on the
north by Wisconsin, on the east by Luke
Michigan. on the south by Cook, aud the
west by McHenry County. 1ts length from
the soutlieru buundary to the Statelive on the
wporth, 234§ miles. ;t aveinge breudth is
shant 191¢ miles, conmining an area of about
460 square miles or 204,400 square acres.

This County derivesits name from its being
situated upon Lake Michigan, as well as from
the great rumber of small Inkes contained
within its borders ; amounting in al to up-
wards of 40. It was originally a part of Mc-
Heanry County, which wus erected from Cook
and La Sulle by the Legislature at its Session
in 1835 and 36, and was detached therefrom
and erected as the County of Lnke by an Act
of the Legisluture, approved Murch 1st, 1839,

The settlement of this County nny be said
points upon the enst of the Des Pluina river ;
but tlieve ssems to Lave been but little im-

rovemeat uniil the year following when the

ndians vacuted the-country in pursuance of 8
treaty which had been previously wade, with
thein. That portion of country now known
as Lake County, srems even 10 have been with
them & fuvored spot, and ntthe present day,
in varions pasts of the County, relics ot their
wigwame, villages and corufields nre to be
found. But at no point, do we find these
uumistakable evidences so apparent, as upon
the borders of the Pistakee Lakes, lying inthe
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northwestern portion of the County ; and so
strong seems to bave been their attachment to
this particular locality, that for several suc-
ceeding seasons, we find them returning
thither to enjoy their sports, and bewail their
misfortune.

Among theearly settlers of this County
were the following pioneers: Ransom Steele,
Richard Steele, Cn‘&t, Wright, Saml. Brookes,
William Cooley, Seth Washburn, William
Easton, Matthias Mason, A. S. Wells, John
Herrick, H. B. Steels, Tobias Wynkoop, Wm.
Lovejoy, Eimsley Sunderlin, Peleg Sunderlin,
Nelson Landon, George Kimball, Willard
Jones, Phiness éborman, Arthur Patterson,
Benjamin Marks, Leonard Geo. Gage,
and George A. Drury ; most of whom, are at
the present day, residents of the County and
favorably known to our citizens, for their very
generous hospitality in those early days, as
m’ as for their perseverence, integrity and

or.

The extremely hi rices of provisions in
those days,—a mi'ﬂn?no incidopru:to all new
countrles, — is not forgoten. Flour was sold
during the year 1835for $20 per bbl, and
other kinds of provisions in proportion. In
1836 the writer was the purchaser of a fuw
bushels of oats at $2 per bushel.

The land in this part of the State was, at
this time, in the possession of the Govern-
ment, and unsurveyed, and in the abeence of
any proper title some mutual understanding
betweea the settlers became necessary to pro-
tect them in their possessions against tres-

passers.

The settlers found that the laws of their
country afforded them little protection in their
new home. The wilderness was before them
v—they had journeyed beyond ths limit of
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civil government, and now, they realized,
perhaps, for the firsttime in their lives, that
governments had their origin in the weakness
of individuals, and had for their end, the
strength and security ofall. They therefore
resolved to forns and set up a new govern-
ment, or compact for the purpose of definin
their rights and enacting such laws as woul
tend to their security. Accordingly a mesting
of the settlers was called for the gzrpole of
adopting such measures ns might thought
expedient to accomplish their ends.

A pamphlet, printed we understand by a
gomlomau of genius,liviug at that time near the

tate line, whose stock of type and material
must have been very limited, which we have
now before us, contains the deliberationa ot
their meeting. We have thought that some
extracts from the proceedings of their first
meeting might not be uninteresting, wo
therefore give the following :—

“At a numerous meeting of the inhabitants
on the upper Des Plains river held pursuant
to notice at Independence Grove on Friday
Dec. 2d, 1836, Saul. Brooks, Esq. in the
chair and George Kimball,Sec’y.—A comnmit-
tse consisting of Neison Laudon, Samuel
Brookes and Willard Jones was appointed tv
present Resolutions and Regulations, The
following on being reported swere unanimous-
ly adopted.

“Whereas the ansnrveyed government lands
nituate between Indian Creck and the north
boundary of the Siate, !ying on und ia the
vicivity of the Des Plaivs river bave within
the lust three years becamme thickly setiled,
and fresh settlors are daily coming in and
seeking a residence and locating in the same
neighborhood —many unwillivg to encroach
on the hitherto reapected bovndariss of older
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settlers. Othel:n :i;h a u;lo mu;ifut inmnio!:_
ot occupying land for the sole rurpou o
wpeculation, and some who seem desirous of
retaining for their exclusive advantage a large
proportion of woodland and pruirie than ap-
pears necessary for a farmer on the largest
scales of calculatino.

“Many new settlements under similar cir-
cumstances have udopted resolutions for the
purpose of defining the extent of !and which
each settler may hold and for protecting
others in the quiet possession of' their claiins
and for this purpose have entered into mutual
compact and agreemeunt to carry such resolu-
tious into effect.

“It appears to your committee upon reading
the notice for couvening this ineeting thatno
time shou!d be lost in pursuing such meas-
ures as the present situation of the settlement
seems to demand, as well for the maintainvnce
and promotion of harwony in the neighbor-
hood, as for the encouragement of respecta-
ble and actual scttlers among us.

“fst. Resolved,That it iz expedient and neces-
sary to adopt measures by which the settiers
in this section of the country mayjbe protected
from encroachmenrs, and their clains upon
Jands better defined,—t0 encournge snd pro-
tect those who wish 10 comne and reside
among us.

“2d. Resolved, That it is expedient to pre-
went individuals from taking up and holdin
donger claims on land than themselves an
families can cultivate, and that no one individ-
anl shall huld more than one section of land:

3d.“Rexolved, 'f'list itis necessnry for the ud-
vaocement & well being of this rettlement, to
prevcent the halding clains on Jand solely for
the purpees -of rpeculation,

—“4th, Resolved, That the country in the
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vicinity of the Des Plains river betweenlndian
Creek and the north boundary of this State,
be divided into three sections, viz: The first
section commencing at Iudian Creek, and
extending northward to Independence Grove,
inclusive. The second section extendiug
from Independence Grove to Mr. Lovejoy's
tavern* inclusive. The third section extending
thence northward to the north boundary of
the State,

“JLI. Thatthere be three Commissioners
appointed for each section (to serve for one
year and until a re-election shall take pluce.l
who shall have full and exclusive power, an
whose duty it shall be at the request of any
one. to estublish and protect each and every
settler in his, Ler or their just and equitable
claim or clains on lands, und decida all diffi-
culties concerning the same, and to establish
the lines and houndarics thereof.

“ILI. That the decision ofsaid Commission-
ers or two of them shall be final, unless within
two days an appeal be made by either of the
parties to the inhabitants of the section in
which the clnim nay he, in which case it
shall be the duty of said Commnissioners, or
either of them immediately upon notice of
such appecal, to conven: a neeting of the
settlers resident in such section for the pur-
pose of obtaining their decimon on _the matter
in dispute.

«]1V. That the inhabitants of each andall
thie said sections shall be bound at all times tor

. carry into effect the orders or decisions of
said Commissioners or any two of them con-
cerning any claime or rights of persons rela-
ting to eny cleim or claims. : -

“V.That if any person shall neglect or refuse’

* Present site of tha ()’Plain honse,
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to assist when required to carry into effect
any order or decision of said Cominissioners
orany two of'them, or to carry into effectany
final decision after an appeal, he shall be
considered inimical to justice and good order
and shall be treated accordingly.

“V1. That there shall be a Clerk appointed
for one year, (and eligible to re-election,) to
keep a book t> register the proceedings of
this meetiug, and the claims of each claiinant
within the three sections which shall be kept
for the inspection of any person at all times.

“VILThat itshall beghe duty of each claimant
10 procure a certificate of the Commissioners,
or any two of them, residing in the section,
where the said claim may be, aud file the
same with the Clerk for registration, then and
there only shall his, her or their claim be
ostablished.

“VIIL That the said Commissioners or any
two of them, may call a meeting ef the set-
tlers at any time they may see fit.

“]X. That the,said Cowmmissioners be at
liberty to demnand and receive for their servi-
ces fur establishing each claim, including the
corner posts hof less than two and not more
than five dollars.

“X. That every one wishing to avail him-
self of the Lenefit of the foregoing Resolutions
and Regulatisns shall subscribe his same to
tha same, and owitting to doso shall derive ne
ndvantuges resulting from the provisions
hereof, )

«X1. Renaolved, That all who hold claims at
the present time shull register them within
two months, and that all new comers shall
register within threo inonths after muking
their cluims.”

‘These regulations were altered and amend-
ed at subsequent meetings as circomstancas
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seemed to demand. Courts of justice were
at length established in the midst of the set-
tlers,and they hegun,in some degree,to feel the
controlling and beneficial influence of the
“higher” or older law to which the following
among other articles was added in due time.

“That every mnember of this association
dnes hereby bind himself to contribute his
due proportionate share ot the expenses in-
curred in defending or prosecuting all suits at
Jaw or equity in which any member may be
sugaged, in consequence of obeying or carry-
ing into effect the decisions or orders of the
Commissioners according to the 4th regulation
of the 2d Dec., 1836.”

These meetings were, after a time, ap-
pointed and held on the 4th of July, so as to
afford the settlers n hetter opportunity to ob-
serve the natioual holiday. They were regu-
larly kept up and their enactments in foroe as
far as could be, until the legislature passed a
law, protecting every man in his possession
or claim,in an amount of land not exceeding
320 acres of unsurveyed land, and not exceed-
ing 160 where the lJunds had been surveyed,
wl%c;‘h law isstill in forge. dorthe f .

“The “modus operandi” under the foregoing
rnles may be more particularly gathered from
a case we will cite, which arese in the third
section, in the vicinity of Mill Creek. Itsesms
that an individual who had just arrivad with
his family from the eastern country, and not
understanding fully the ‘rules and regulations’
of the compacl, settled bimnself' upon the first
spot of ground which snited his fancy, but
which had previourly been registered agreea-
ble 10 the laws of the settlers, but was unoc-
cupied at the titne by the cluimant.

hereupon the Commissioners of the com
pact were notified of the grievance by whoso
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orders messengers wers dispatched to sumn-
mon the inbabitants to meet upon the locus
i% guo on a given day, to hear and determine
the matter in dispute.

A large number of the settlers accordingly
met upon the day appointed when a modera-
tor was chosen, and the neeting organized
for business.

One of their number was selected to act as
counsel, or advocute, for the prosecution ;
while the intruder presented a very intelligent
and gentlemanly appearing individual to urge
his defence.

The testimony upon the part of each waa
then heard, und after a spirited discussion, the
matter was submiitted 1o the ineeting for their
decision, which was that the intruder Le first
kiudly requested 1o leave the premises, upvu
failure of which he was to be ejected there-
from without further ceremony. Reiusing to
comply with this request the order wasgiven
to execute the writ of ossession,

The meeting then resolved iiseif into a
committee of the whole onthe state of the
squatters, assumed the reins ofjustice, pro-
cecded to the defendunt’s Lubitation, disers.
ed his fuinily and sequestered his goods, when
the order went up and the house went dowa,

Nothing was now left for the unlortunate
occupant, but to gather up bis effects and
leave the neighboroood.

Thus rid of an unwelcome visitant, the
Jealous neighuors returned to their hotnes in
quiet.

Scenes like the above were of almost week-
ly occurrence and in but a fow cases did they
fail of protecting the originul claimants against
intruders.

Various huve been the opinions and ex-
pressions us to these compacts o the early
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‘settlers. They were now perhaps as just as
the general compact, under whose protection
we are all pleased to find ourselves and to
whose mandates we should always yield a
very cheerful compliance. Butit is probably
true that the powers which they sssumed as
& compact, were often abused and perverted.

The séttiers as s body, in deciding upon
questions between claimants, often did eo
without due deliberation, and the conse-
quences were in many instances of a serious
nature, which perhaps in most instances
might have been avoided by more calm and
impartial considerution.

CHAPTER 1L

The matter of politics, in due time, engaged
the attention of thie-early settlers. The Act
of tha Legislnture, ereciing the County of
McHeanry, provided for au eletion of County
officers on the 5th of Juune, 1837, which
election wasordered to be held at the house
ot Hiram Keunnicott, Ecq., which was near
the present site of the fouring mills on ths
Des Plaing, near Half Day, whbich election
came off with a degree of strife and auxiety
in proportion to the population of the County,
at that duts ; there being but oune place of’
voting for the County ; tha candidates and
others feeling au interent ia ti:o reenlt, bad an
excellent oppertunity of mecting their oppo-
nents upou lair and open grounde.

The followiug persous were elected as offis
cers for the ne'v County : Henry B. Sieele,
Sheriff ; Blicheel iilcGuire, Coroner ; Seth
Waushburn, Recorder,  and Matthias Masoo,
Charles H. Bartlett and Solemon Norton,
County Commissioners. The number of
votes pollcd at this election, for the entire
County of McHenry, way 138,
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Thbe newly elected officers were immedi-
ately qualified and entered u the duties
of their respective offices. The County Seat
of the new County having been previously
located at the present sits of McHenry village.
‘The County (;mmiuiomn elect,immediate-
l{erepcind thither and opened Court, and as
their first official act, appointed Hamilton
Dennison as Clerk of that Court, which office,
at that time, was not elective.

On the first Monday in August following
came the general ¢lection, when the demo-
cratic putwut in nomination the following
ticket : Arthur Patterson for Probate J. P.;
Lewis G.Scbenck, for Treasurer; Patrick Bal-
lingall for Clerk of County Commissioners

ourt.

The office of Commissioners Clerk baving
become at this election an elective office,
"I'his ticket succeeded at the election, with the
exoception of the nominee for Clerk. Mr.
Denunison who was then holding the office by
appointment, was the opposing candidate and
succeeded over Mr. Ballingall, who by the
way was not yet a resident of the County, but
intended to become so, bad the election re-
sulted in his favor. In those days, but few
enquiries were made, in reference to candi-
dates for office ; whatever seemed to be the
opinion and desire of a few, who assumed the
Jead in such matiers, was generally very read-
ily concurred in by the many.

Mr. Densison continued in office but a short

fime, when be resigned his station, and at a

special election, immediately thersafter, Jo-
seph Wood, Esq. was elected without opposi-
tion, to fill the vacancy.

Many designing individuals, as is the case
io all new countries, were making theirap-
pearance among the early settlers at this time,
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for the purpose of political preferment, and
while many of them flourished, tor a seasoun,
their “blushing hon-rs" huve withered before
the coming of autumn. . b

The first Circuit Court held. in McHenry
County, was held at McHeary..in the spring
of 1838, when a Docket of 62 ceses wus made
up for adjudication. The Hon. John Piersons
presiding as Judge : Alonzo Huntington was

resent as Sudes Attorney; H. B. Lteele,
sherift, and A, B. Wyunkoop, Clerk. The
Court room was in the upper story of a log
house, occupied as a tuvern, which stood
where now standy, the snlendid and comino-
dious Hotel of Mr. Baldwin,

The novel scenes of'this occasion, will long
be remembered by thoso wha participated,
and are probadly well understood by many
who had not that opportunity. *

The limited accoinmodauons of the young
village of McHenry, which consisted at this
time, of three or four log housesaud a barn,
rendered it necessary to occupy the Court
roon at night as a sl..cping apartment, upon
each return of whiciy, the floor was found
covered with vario 1 sucecimens of ingenuity,
in the shape of budis, :urposed  of buffaloes,
mats and various other cescriptions of bed-
ding, aud many even then, cusuld not be ac-
commodated with a place to recline upon,and
were cownpelled to while uiway the “dark
hours” to the hest advantaze, by enyg ging in
various kinds of amusements,—“{elling yarns”
and cracking jokes—aud wheu the reader is
informed that Col. J. M. Strole, so well known
to the pioneers of the north west, was amohg
the number on this occasion, he may well
calculate, that the hours passed merrily away.
No Member of the Bur in northern lllinois,
has probably had equal experience in p'éoneer
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Courts, with our esteemed friend, the Colo-
nel ; and hisremarkable tlent for cracking
Jjokes, and telling a good story, no doubt ren-
dered him doubly welcome on this occasion.

So eager were men for office or some kind
of public calling, in those days, that many
were known even to solicit the favor of being
drawn as jurors, und many others who had
chanced to be drawn as such,without solicita-
tion upon their part, seemed to be elated in
the highest degree at their goed fortune, for
an opportunity to appear among their fellows,
as among the chosen few.

As we have before intimated, offce seeking

among the early sattlers, was the “order of the
day;” but many of the bright and shining
lig{m of those days have since fallen into the
darkest obscurity, while among them, too,
were men of the bighest order of talent.§
" Matters continued rather quietly until the
fall of 1838, when the County of McHenry
waz thought to be quite thickly settled, aud
for convenience of the inhabitants in transact-
ing Coum‘{mbueiueu, it was thought advisable
by many that the County should be divided ;
accerdingly a petition was drawn up and eir-
culated for the purposs of affecting this object.
The following is a copy of this petition, whick
is sufficiently explicit within: itself to supes-
sede the necessity of comment.

“To the Honorable the General Assembly of
the Btate of lllinois "

“Yeur memorialists, the inhabitants ef
the County of McHenry, would respectlully
represent, that after due consideration andthe
most anxious and cargful investigation of
facts and circumstances connected with said -
County, they have eame to the conclusion,
that in order to procure the greatest amoust
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i comfort, cenvenience and prosperity, it is
necessary and expedient that the said County
be divided muking the centre of Fox river’the
dividing line from north to south ; and all that
portion of County lying east of Fox river be
and form anew Connty, to be called Lake
County, and that portion west of Fox river,
containing ranges five, six, seven and eight,
east of the third grincipal meridian, be and
continue to form the county of McHeury.

“The greater proportion of the inhabitants
ot said County as formed and organized by
the Acts of 1836 and 1837, is.composed within
the limits of ranges five, (5,) six, (6,) seven, (7,)
ten, (10, Jleleven (11)nnd twelve,(12,) east of the:
third principal meridian, being the extremes ot’
1he vast territory ef which our County is now
tormed, which is populated with enterprising
aud intelligent citizens, who at the present
time number at least four thousand souls—
with a list, as by the Tux Roll of the year
1838, of eight hundred and seventy five tax
ypaying citizens.

“And we would further represent, that the
County of McHenry is nearly fifty miles in
length, and is twenty four miles from north to
south, and the seat oi justice of the County, us
located, being immediately on the west bank
of Foxriver. We would (in case your Hon-
orable body grantus a division,) ask that a
review be made to re-locate the seat of justice
of McHenry County,and that Commissionera
be appointed therefor. Also that your Honor-
able body will appointCommissioners to locate
the seat ofjustice for the County of Lake;
and as in duty bound, your _petitioners will
ever pray.”

This petition received the signature of a
Iarge majority of the legal voters of McHenry
County, and was accordingly prooemed‘to the

2
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Legislature at its Session of 1838 and 39 :
upon which the County of Lake was created,
and the following fixed ns the beundaries for
the new County. “All that portion or Mc-
Henry County east of a range or sectional
line, not less than three miles, nor more than
four miles east of the present County seat
[McHenry Villuge,] of McHenry é'oumy,
shall constitute a new County to be called the
County of Lnke.”

About this time an attempt was nlso made to
create a new County, to be called the County
of Michigan, out of u portion of Couk, and u
prt of that portion of McHenry, lying on the
east of Fox river,x0 as to bring the County
seat_at Wheeling,® which usa matter of course.
if accomplished, would have a tcudency to
defeat the plan of creating theCounty of Lake;
and thereby render it certnin ot continuing
the Counnty seat of McHenry County at Mec-
Lenry Village, which attempt however proved
unsuccessful, nnd the chagrin of the XMichigan
County “boys” at their defeas, o understand,
has scarcely subwided to the present day.

It will be recollected thnt Dgctor Richard
Murpby, so long and favorably Kuown to most
of our citizens, was at this tigpe.a member of
the Legisluture from the Cook District, whoee
intezrity and regard for the iuterest of his
constituents, we helieve was néver doubted
during the three terms for which he served ;
yet it is claimed, we understand, by a gentle-
man of Mclenry, who has for several years
¢njoyed considerable fame in the world, and
who had the honor at this time, ot holding
the station of outside, or “lotin” meinber,
that lie succeeded in exerting a kind of influ-
ence over the Doctor, by which he was eua-
bled to fix the western bonndary of Luke
County where it now is, instead of making
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Yox river the line, which it more properly
should have been, which seems anlso to have
heen the prayer of the petition, upon which
the action was predicated ; but us this matter
transpired long before the writer hercof had
arnived at years of maturity, he doesnot claim
to speak advisedly upon the subject ; but from
his subsequent personal acquaintance with
Dr. Murphy, itaffords him the greatest pleas :
ure to speak of his tnlents and integrity as well
ns of his social qualities, in the highest and
warmest terms.

By the Act creating the™ new County of
Lake, Edwurd ,E. Hunter and William Brown
of Cook Couunty and Col. E. C, Berry of Fay-
etie County, were appointed Cowmissioners
to locate the seat of justice. Brown und
Hunter, we understund, were appointed upon
the suggestion of many of the petitioners, and
Col. Berry from his thorough acquaintance
with the geography ofthe Couuty, having a
short time previous been engaged in survey-
ing the Government lands therein, under the
direction of the Surveyor General.

The said Commissioners, or a majority of
them, were required to to meet at the house
of Heitry B. Steele at Independence Grove,
{now Libertyville,) on th.e first Monday in May,
1839, or us soon therenfler 18 might he conveni-
ent, and after being duly sworn by sonie Jus-
tice of the Peace, faithiully to Perform the"
auties required of them ns such Commission-
ners, to proceed to locate the seat of justice
for the new County ; huving due regard to the
geographical situation, the settlements and
convenience of the population at that period,
as well as thereafter. All the land in the
County being at that tiine in the hands of the
(iovernment. The claimants ot land upon
which the County seat might be located, were



22 GENERAL OBSERVATIONS.

required to relinquish their claim toa tract
not Jess than iwenty acres, for the useand
benefit of the County, upon which to erect
the public buildings ; and it was made the
duty of the County Commissioners to obtain a
title from the Generaul Governinent of said
lot of land, as soon as the same could be ac

complished ; and were required to appropri-
ate from the funds of the County, so much as
would be necessary for that purpose.

The legal voters within the territory of the
new County were wequired to meet at the
several pluces of holding the last general
election, under the organization of McHeary
Couanty, on the first Monday in August, 183y,
for the purpose of choosivg County officers.
The returns of said election were to be made
by the judgesaud clerks thereof, to the County
Commissioner’ Court of McHenry County,
according to tha law in other cuses, and the
clerk of said Court wus required to give cer-
tificates of election to the officers elect of the
new County.

The new County of Lake, was by this Act.
attached to the seventh judicial circuit, in
which it bas remained to the present time.

That portion of McHeury County which
was to form the County of Lake, if we re-
member correctly, was divided, at the tims of
the aforesaid election, into only four pre-
cincts, or election districts; which at the
present time numbers fifteen. The names
affixed to thein were Abingdon, Indian Creek,
Oak and Lake ; all of which names have now
become extinct, except Abingdon, the re-
mains of which is summed up iu a post office
now located at Saugatuck. [The name of Ab-
ingdon bas been changed to “Hartford” Post
Office, at a recent date.

Thus much for the initiatory or preparatory
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steps, to the erection and organization of the
resent flourishing County of Lake. The
alf of course “has not been told,” yet proba-
bly sufficient to enable the reader to form his
own ideas and draw his own conclusions.
There are many things of a private nature,
which transpired about this period, which
might, it is true, prove interesting to some,
but ~ould of course give offence to others.
And we hold it to be true, that there is no
mnan, who has figured in public life to any
extent, either in high places or low, but that
there are rortionl of his life, which upon his
part, would be wost gladly forgotten, while
upon the the other hand, their remembrance
operates as a sweet morsal, to the tantalizing
spirit of his cotemporaries.

CHAPTER 1L

About the first of June 1839, two of the
Commissioners for locating the County seat,
Hunter and Brown, met at Libertyville, and
having tuken the oath of office, entered upon
their duties, which were performed after a
a very brief inquiry into the wishes of the
people, by locuting the County seat at Inde-
pendance Grove, to which, with the concur-
rence of the inhabitants at that place, they
applied the name of Burlington, which, as we
have bufore stated, originally bore the name
of Vardin’s Grove, but was subeequently
changed to Independence Grove, when in
‘the winter of 1836 and '37a post office was
established there, to which was applied the
name of Libertyville.

Whilst many have frequently and loudiy
condemned the conclusions of the Commis-
sioners in locating the seat of justice as they
did, and have gone #o far as to prefer many
serious eharges against them. We are inclined
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to the opinion, that most men, even of the
best perception and thorough acquaintunce
with the western country, would at that time,
have arrived at the same conclusion.

It was supposed that the road froin Chicago
to Milwaukee, by the way of Libertyville,
could never be superseded, but on the con-
trary must countinue to increase in import-
ance, until it would hecome oue of the great-
est thoroughfares in the western country. It
was theiefore considered that the interest of
the inhabitants of the County, required the
Jocation of the seat of justice upon this thor-
oughfare; in view of which, Libertyville was
considered to be unquestionnbly the most
favorable point. Upon the enst side of the
Des Plains, it was, as yet, but thinly settled,
and the prospects for a deuse population in
that portion of the County seemed not ut this
period to be very flattering.

A small begipning had been made at Little
Fort, (now Waukegun,) where a very good
sized storehouse had been erected by ene
Thoinas Jenkins, which building is still stand-
ing upon the bank of the river, near Dickin-
son’s ware house, in which RMr, Jenkins had
placed a very good stock of goods for the
purpose of trading; and was also endeavoring
to de something in the line v, forwarding;
while with the assistance of twc or three en-
terprizing individuals in the vicinity, a very
favorable impression was being created ; but
at length a controversy arose between the
claimants, as to the eccupancy of-the land,
when business become pretty much entirely
suspended.

hat few inhabitants were settled in the
vicinity of Little Fort were anxious as might
well be supposed, that ihe County geat should
be located at that place, but being conscious
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of their minority, and considering, no doubt,
prudence to be the better part of valor, they
at that tima said bt little upon the subject.
Their own interests, arisirg from their par-
ticuli.r loention, through a good degree of
hope, prompied them we believe, thata day
of success yet awaited them, notwithstanding
the preliminary decisions might be aguinst
them.

The time for electing officers for the new .
County, was at length neanr at hand, party
politics, 48 well an local interest, had already
created no smull degree of feeling thronghout
the County. Such of'the inhabitants ns enter-
tained a bright hope asto the future prospects
of Little Fort, felt no small degree of interest
in the result of the npproaching election as
might well be expected.

%‘Iwir plan wuas to secure, if possible, the
election of such County officers as were favor-
able o the re-location of the County seat ;
especially that of County Commissioners,
whose duty it would be, to take charge of,
and conduct the affuirs of the County. If,
therefore, such Comnissioners should be
elected, as were favornble to having the
County seat remain where it had been nlready
located, they of course would at once proceed
to the permunent erection of the County
buildings, and adopt all such measures as
would have atendeuncy towards settling the
quesiion of removal in the ininds of the people
henceforth. While on the other hand, if
such Conmissioners be elected as were fa-
vorable to the removal of the County seat as
desired, quite a different course of proceeding
would be adopted. This plan, however,
seems not to have been very generally under-
stood throughout the County, in consequence
of which, the fricnds of Little Fort succeeded



26 GENERAL OBSERVATIONS.

in some degree, in accomplishing their de--
signs, while they must have been altogether
defeated, Liad their plans have been well un-
derstood, us they were much in the minority.
An attempt was made by a designing few,
to combine all parties through a Mass Meet-
ing, and bring out a sort of union ticket, to
which it was undersiood, there should be no
opposition. This Meeting couvened at the
barn of Dr.J. H. Foster at lndependence
Grove : this being at that early day, the moat
comtnodious building that the town, or per-
haps the whole County afforded. It wassoon
ascertained after the convening of the Meet-
ing, that the conflicting interests and opinions
of'the persons comnposing the body, would
not allow of accomplishing the obhject for
which they had assembled, and therefore,
after a season of wrungling and dixcord, the
Meeting broke up in coutusion, without ma-
turing anything, and as the subseguent politi-
cal history of Luake Couuty would show,
without profiting in the least by that duys
experience. Butafter the lupse of a few
weeks, the two political parties took issue
upon their respective nominations, aud the
election came off with the following result:

Sheriff—Henry B. Steele.

Counly Commssionirs—Charles H. Barlets,
Nelson Landon and Jared Gage.

T'reasurer—Matthins Mason.

School Commissioner—Lewis G. Schenck.

Surveyor—John A. Mills.

Probate Justice—.Arthur Patlerson.

Coroner—Starr Titus.

Clerk of County Commissioners Court—Lan-
sing B. Nicho's.

Those in italics were known as Little Fort
men. Two Justices of the Peace, and two
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Constables were also elected at the same
time, in each Precinct.

The number of votes cast at this election
was 375.

The officers elect were immediately quali-
fied as required by law, and entered upon
the duties of their offices.

A special term of the County Commission-
ers Court was immediately called at the
County seat, at which term the County wus
divided into eight election districts, or pre-
cincts, as they were more properly termed
in law, viz : Lake, Oak, Middlesex, Burling-
ton, Mill Creek, Bristol, Fort Hill and Zurich.

The matter of erecting the County build-
ings was soen agitated to some extent ; aud
as a matter of course the friends of Independ-
ence Grove, were anxious that this thing
should be accomplished assoon as possible,
in order to permauently settle the question of’
the location of the County seat, und as the
«Grove folks® scemed to have the ma-
jority in the County Commissioners Court :
the friends of Little Fort found it necessary
to exert their ingenuity at this time, to the
extent of their ability. Accordingly, it was
suggested by Mr. Landon, one ot the Board
of Commissioners, and urged by him, that the
finances of the new County, would butallow
of incurring the expense necessary for putting
up of such buildings as the County required.
It was therefore suggested by him, at the in-
stance of his friends that perhaps some per-
son could be found, who would build such a
building asthe immediate necessity of the
public required, which could be rentad untit
the funds of the County would warrant the
building of something more permanent.

Accerdingly an arrangement of this kind
was entered into between the Commissioners
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on the part of the County, and Burleight
Hunt of Little Fort, who soon completed a
very commodious buildiug ; the upper story
of which was fitted up for a Courtroom and
Offices, while the lower story was arranged
and rented for a store and dwelling purpaoses,
‘I'his building was occupied by the County
for public purposes, »x long asthe County
seat was nt Libertyville.

The Circuit Court held in and for the
County of Lake, wi:s lield at Libenyville, in
April 1840. The Hun. John Piersons presi-
ding. Alonzo Huntington was present as
States Attorney ; A. B. Wynkoop, Clerk, and
H. B. Steele, Sheriff. Of the Members of the
Bar who were present, we remember the
following : Horace Butler, Nathan Allen, W.
W. Kellogg, Charles McClure, Grant Good-
vich, J. Butterfield, J. L. Loop and J.M.
Strode. The following persons were sum-
moned as Grand and Petit Jurors at this
‘Term.

GRAND JURORS®
Philip Blanchard, Laomi Pearson,
Richkard D. Hickox, Samuel Burlingbam,

Richard Archer, Elmsly Sunderlin,
Rufus Soules, George Thomson,
David Wait, Hiram Clark,
Jonathan Rice, Alexander Lussel,
Leonard Loomis, Zabina Ford,
John Robinson, John Olimsby,
AbrahamVandewacker, Lathrop Farnham,
W. B. Waitles, Guorge A. Drury,
David Rich, Moses Sutton,
Oliver Booth.

PeTiT Jurors.
Elbert Howard, Johin Murray,
Andrew Luce, Job W. Tri‘: y
Leonard Spaulding, Milton Shields,

Godfrey_Dwelly, Lewis Beecher,
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Morris Robinson,
Daniel Hubbavd,
Levi Whitney,

William Ladd,
Ransom Steele,
Culeb -Davidson,

29

Williamn Briggs, Malachi T.White,
Charles 8. Cury; Hezekinh Bryaut,
Joshua Leach, Nathuniel Xiug,
Hiram Butrick, Solomion Norton,
George Gage, A. S. Wells.

No cases of great importance were brought
betore the Court at this Term. The Docket
counsisted mostly of casea arising between
claitnants of Government la:-.l¢, such as for-
cible entry and detaiver; ue.t many poor fel-
lows, who were so unfortuiite as to have
their names entered as litigants at this Term
of'the Court, proved so very unfortunate as
to have 1i:2in stereotyped there, for many
years thureatter. Not perhapsso much from
their own volunuiry choice, but rather through
an inadvertance arising from a mistaken no-
tion of the means of their own happiness, and
the pence und harmony of the seciety in which
they lived.

For iustance, the Docket would run some-
what in this way, “No. 1. 8——. v3: K—.
Forcible Entry and Detainer, ave you ready in
that case Mr. B—-."" “No sir, your lionor ;
one of our witnesses, the gon of the Plaintift,
is unavoidably nbsent, he will probably return
hy to-morrow, when we will be prepared to
take up the case.” “Very well, sir. No. 2,
K——. v8: S——. TVespass on the case—SLaN-
DER, are you ready in that case, Mr, M——"
“We are not—quite-—-ycur Honor ; a plea of
Jjustitication by the Defendant has taken us
rather by surprise. We would therefore crave
the indulgence of the Court until we can in-
vestigate the matter a little further before we
proceed.” “Very well sir, let us proceed in
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No.3. 8——, vst K—, and K—— TVes’
pass.—Call ajury.”

The new County being now fully organi-
zed, matters began to assume a more settled
aspect. When at the June Term of tha
County Commissioners Court, Capt. Morris
Robinson was appointed by the Court to take
the census of the County by authority of the
State, commencing and enumerating the in-
babitants resident on the first of September
of that year. The census was also tauken in tke
same year by Dr. Richard Murphy, by author-
ity of the United States, commencing on the
first of June,

Showing a population as enumerated

by State authority of 5

Do. United States authority of 2,634
8howing an,increase in 3 months of 271

The mission of Capt. Robinson seems how-
ever, to have been mostly that of ascertaining
the minds of the peopie of the County, upon
the subject of removing the Couuty seat from
Libertyville to Little Fort, and exhorting
them’to favor the project; when at his in-
stance, petitivns addressed to the General
Assembly, praying for such removal were put
in circulation in every portion of the Cor.nty
where the question was likely to meet with
the least favor, which petitions seem to have
been very numerously signed.

At the August election for County officers
for this year, L. B. Nichols was elected to the
office of S8heriff ; Thomas H. Payne, County
Commissioner, and Joseph Wood, Coroner.

In November following came the great
Presidential contest, long to be remembered,
between Harrison and Van Buren. The num-
ber of votes pelled in the County at this elec-
tion was 548, giving a majority ot 14 votes

for Harrison,
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Thé Legislature having convened upon the
first of December, Capt. Robinson was select-
ed by the friends of Little Fort, to attend its
Session, for the purpose of presenting the
petitions for the removal of the County seat,
and using bis exertions in behalt of the prayer
of the petitioners, which reeulted in the pas-
sage of an Act, submitting the question of re-
moval to the feople of the County on the 5th
of April, 1841 ; at which election there were
744 votes cast, showing a majority of 188 in
favor of Litte Fort, which result, as tnight
well be expected, was a source of great rejoi-
cing on the part of the triends of Little Fort,
and ot deep mortification and regret on the
part of the friends of Libertyville. They had
all along in their sanguinary moments looked
upon the question as seunled. Tbe location
of the County seat at Libertyville, had in their
estimation greatly enhanced the value of their
property, aud their arrangements for the
future were all in reference to its permanent
locatioa at that point, hence the very reasona-
qle cause of their disappointment.

The County seat was therefore, in conform-
ity to the expression of the goople, on the 13th
duy of April re-located, and permanently es-
tablished at Little Fort on the southeast quar-
ter of section twenty-one (21.)

By an Act of Congress, the County would
he entitled to 160 acres of land by pre-
emption, at the place where the County seat
should be lecated. That is 10 say, the land
upon which the County seat of any County
should become located, it being Government
land, the County should bave the right
by pre-emption to enter 160 acres of the
same at any time, at tho proper land office, by
paying $1,25 per acre Accordingly such of
the inhabitants of Little Fort as had asy
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claims upon tha southeast quarter of section
twenty-one (21), very generously released
them in favor of the Connty, bui now fartheir
generosity was remeunibered by .ne County,
we shall leave it for the individuais thewselves
0 say.

The land being so released, was on or about
the 20th day of April, 1841, purciused at the
Jand office ut Chicago by the County Com-
missioners, Clarles H. Bartlett, Nelson Lan-
don and Thomas H. Payne, for the Couuty of
Lake, it being the first transfer of lund in fee
simple in the County.

The said quarter section of land was then
by order ot the County Commissioners sub-
divided into lots and blocks by the Couuty
Surveyor, John A, Mills, with the assistance
ofhis Deputy, George Gage ; after which a
sale of the lots was ordered, sufficient to meet
the expenses which had been incurred in
perfecting the tiile to the land, &c., which
sale took pluce on the 26th day of May, 1841.
The terms of which was, one. fourth of the
amount of the purchase money in advance,
and the balunce in three equal instalinents, in
6, 122 and 18 months.

This sale was not only well attended by the
peorle of the County, but there seemed to be
present, a great number of strangers from
abrond. who had come for the purpose of
buying property and locating themselves in
business. 'I'he fume of Little Fort had already
spreud over a wide portion of country. while
its favorable and delightful loeation in nature
svemed to answer the expectation of all.

A very good anecdote istold in counexion
with this sale, at the expense of a worthy
friend of ours, who by the way is extremely
fond of crucking a good joke himself, in con
sequence of which we feel assured that he
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will pardon us for the liberty we have takern
in laying the matter before the reader.

Our friend had opened a house of enter-
tainment in town, and amongst other drinks,
kept constantly on hand, an excellent article
of small-beer, of his own manufacture.

He bad, it seems, placed his mind much
upon purchasing certain lots, which were
to be offered for sale among the others, and
in order that he might make sure ofthem,and
that ata reasonable rate, he was endeavoring
to obtaiu the favor of'the County Comnmisgsien-
-ers ; when his sagacity led him to the plan of
dealing out to thein most bountifully of his
excellent beer. The sale was at le:itb about
to a close and our friend had succeeded to his
‘entire satisfaction in purchasing his lots, but
at the same time, to his mortification, the re-
sult of his hospitality to the County Commis-
sioners was not so salutary as he kad anticipa-
ted, in consequence ot which he could not
consider himself under the least obligation to
them for his good fortune, buton the contrary
-could not but look upon them as ungrateful
in the oxtreme, after having availed themselves
so freely of his generosity not to lend him that
assistance, which, having it in their power,
he considered they were in duty bound to
afford him. He accordingly placed himselt
insuch a position as would command the
attention of the crowd, and especially that ot
the County Commissioners, and cried out with
a full voice, “Gentlemen, these County Coui-
missioners have treated me as badly as they
could, but after all that, I have got all that I
wanted, and more than I expected, and now,
shall stop the beer.” This joke, however, is
the best enjc:ly;od by those who are best ac-
quainted with the parties and the circum-
stancea. Iiaffords us pleasure however, to

" 4
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state, that the purchases of our friend of that
day, proved tor bitn a subsequent comfortable
fortune ; but us to how the beer injunction
was received by the Commissioners we were
rever informed.

CHAPTER 1V.

The removal of the County seat had already
created in the County two parties; the “Little
Fort” party, and the “Grove” party ;” each o
which seemed determinerd to “do battle” to
the eund, for the cause in which they had en-
listed. A severe auimosity soon arose be-
iween the two parties, which gave rise t:
ruch of personalianimadversion, to be remem -
Lered by our older citizens.

At the Session of the Legislature of 40 an:!
’41, a Bill was introduced to reorganize the
sudiciary of the State. The Bill provided fo-
ubolishing the office of Circnit Judge in the
waveral Circuits throughout the State, and for
».creasing the number of Supreme Judges to
nine, and require them all to do Circuit duty,
in addition to their duties as Supreme Judges.
This Bill we believe received the support ot
Dr. Murphy, our member in the Legislature
at that time, whose great iufluence in that
Lody, at that time, it is thought, contributed
much to the success of the Bill, which before
the close of the Session became a law. The
Hon. Theo. W. Smith, who was at that time,
and had been for many years prior,upon theSu-
preme Bench, was most bitterly opposed to
the provisions of the Bill, and in consequence,
it is said, became a most bitter personal ene-
‘my to Dr. Murphy. - :

The 7th Circuit being assigned.. to Ju;lgge
Smith, he appointed Isaac R. Gavib, Esq., Ex-
Sheriff of Cook County, as Clerk of the Cir-
cuit Court of LakeCounty, which appointmen
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iz was soon understood, was greatly in oppo-
sition to the teelings of Dr. Murphy, whose
political stunding, it seemed -to be the mission
-of Mr, Guvin, if possible to-destroy.

Here, then, was another cause which con
tributed much to the discordant state of polii-
ical officers of ths :Couaty at that time.

Mr. Gavio having at once identified himself
with the “Grove” party, while Dr. Murphy
svas a strong advocate for the interests of
*Little Fort.”

it was at length insisted, by some, tbat the
Jaw, uader which the County seat had been
removed, was defective, and that Libertyville
was yet properly the County seat ¢ftheCcun-
1y, and in fact, the Recorder even took upon
Lixuself, the responsibility eof removing
nis  office back to Libertyville, where
hie continued to hold it for several months.
i atthe Session of the Legislature of 4%
=nd 43, an Act was passed, through the influ-
ence of Dr. Murphy,declaring that the County
szat should be thereafter considered as per-
mwanently Jocated at Litlde Fort, on the site
selected by the County Commissioners. Thix
was cousidered as a permanent settlement
ai" this perplexing question.

It was the policy of the friends of Little
Fort to proceed with the erection of the
County buildings as speedily as possible, sv
us to place the permanent location of the
County seat beyond any further question,
while on the countrary it seemed to be the pol-
icy of the “Grove” party to retard the work
as much as poasible,

"The first: County Commissioners Court
held at Little Fort, for the purposes of general
business, was opened on tlie day ot May,
1341, at which Term Lewis G. Scheuck, Esq.
regigned his offics as School Commg;:ionen
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Horatio N. Heald, Esq., now Treasurer of
€ook County, was appointed in his stead,
which nfpoimment from the known integrity
of Mr. Heald, was reinarkably well received.
Of the three individuals cemposing theCoun-
ty Commissioners Court, at this time two ef’
then, Messrs. Landon and Payne, were of the
«Little Fort” party, and one, Mr. Bartlett, was
of the “Grove” faction, and as Landon’s
term of ofice was soon to expie, the
“Grove” party entertained & bright% of
electing in his stead one of their own choice,
and thus greutly strengshen their ition.

No action was taken, meaawhile in relation
to the County buildings.

The election of County efiicers was athand.
The friends of Little Fort put in nomination
the following ticket, to wit = :

For County Commissioner—Nelson Landon.
For School do. Horatio N. Heald.
For County Treasurer—D. 8. Dewey.

The adverse party put in nomination the
following ticket :

For County Commissioner—Samuel Jackson.
For School do. Milton Becon.

‘The eleetion came off on the 2nd day ot
August, and resulted in the success of the first
named candidates by a very large majority.
"I'he fidelity and integrity of Mr. Landou in
connexion with the interest of Little Fort,
rendered bim exceedingly popular with his

rty.

As soon as the result of the election was
known, Mr. Landon called a Special Session
of the County Commissioners Court which
convened on the 16th day of August.

At this Term, among other actions of the
Court, Henry B. Steele, was removed from the
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office of Clerk,and Arthur Patterson, Esq.
appointed in his stead. Mr. Steele itseems,
had not given his personal attention to the du
ties of his office,and had continued his resi-
dence at Libertywille, having appointed A. B.
Wynkoop as-his-deputy, who had taken the
exclusive charge of the .duties of the office
since the removal of the ‘County seat. This
therefors became-one of'tb:.oi:;xonmt char-
ges, upon whichhe was re

This act of the ‘Court immediately gave
Fise to an investigation of its authority, result-
ing in the decision that Mr. Landon had ne
authority, uader the-circumstances to convene
the Court,and-consequently that this and all the
other acts of the:Court at that Term were il-
'-leg;l and void.

he first Term of the Circuit Court held at

Little Fort, was opened on the 20th day of
‘October, 1841, present Hon. Theo. W..Smith,
Judge pnsidirg ; Henry Brown, Esq., States
Attorney ; L. B. Nichols, Sheriff, and I. R.
Gavin, Clerk. Among the Members of the
Bar were Horace Butler, Isaac Hopkinson,
Giles.Spring, Grnt Goodrich, P. Bullingall, J.
M. Strode, B. 8. Morris, Turney,Hosmer, and
Rucker.

This Court for the want of a more couveni-
ent room, was holden in the upper story of
the old storehouse, under the Bluff. known as
the “Kingston building.” During this Term
a matter transpired which is doubtless yet
fresh in the recollection of our early citizens,
-and we have thought it wot improper, here to
recur to it. The :Stor:;of H. Buell and Son,
situated on the Milwaukee road, about a mile
south of the O¥Plain-house, was broken oper
“inthe night and robbed-of the greater part
of its comtents.

Thisaffair, as might well be supposed caus-
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ed no small degree of excitement throughous
the County as well as in the immediate neigh-
borhood. The neighbors and officers of the
law, rallted and- made diligent search in vari-
ous directions for the stolen property A
wagon track was traced leading fromn the
store, over the prairia in & south-western di-
rection, till'at: length somne of the articles were
found hy the side of it, which had apparently.
from the roughness of the road, been throwu
from the wagon. These indicationa led to
the barn of Thoaoiaes and William Killain,
situated abeut two tniles and a half, south of
Mr. Buell’s store, and near the road, in which,
after a thorough search, the goods were ali
ﬁmnd,conmfed in the hay. In the meantime
€ourt having adjourned, the Judge, Member:
of the Bar and others who had ieen in ut-
1endance, were passing along the road o
their retarn.

These fonctionaries, attracted by the unu-
sual excitement, alighted by the way and aftet-
Jearning the facts in the case determined upou:
the arrest of the two Killams and one Edward
Allen, more familiarly known as “Ned Allen.”

With their prisoners:- “in tow,” they then
proceeded 10 Libertyville, where an examina-
zion was held;. which resulited in the release ot~
Thomas Killam, while Allen and William
were held to bail, in default of which they
were committed to the jail of McHenry Coun-
13'. This County baving as yet no jail provi-

ed.

They were continned in eonfinement in jaii
for upwards of a year, when they were tried,
convicted, and sentenced each to three years
and six menths confinement i the peniten-
riary. Allen served out his time; but poo:
Killam died a few months before the expira-
tion of his sentence,—it is said, from excessiv«
ill treatment..
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‘Every effort was now being made on ths
nart of the County Commissioners to make
Zittle Fort whatits most ardent supportess
nad pledged their reputation it should be «
snarket place for Lake Connly.

Hitherto all the important roads in the
County had been aiming in the the direction
- Chicaga. This town bad always been the
great market place for northern lllinois and
<outhern Wisconsin. The settlers of Lake
4 ounty, in the beginning, had been ccnpelled
10 obtain all their supplies from Chicago.
"Thither also went all their surplus produce,
which, from the extra expense of transporta-
-ion, greatly reduced their profits,

A journey to -Chicago with a load, and horss
zeam, could not be made in less than three
dzys, and oftener in four. It is not then tole
wondered at, that the agricultural portion of
=he County should avail themselves of thix
spportunity of contrihuting their strength t.,
ear up a market plece, as it were, at thew
oswn doors, nor that they should feel in souwe
legree elated ot so fair a prospect, us wax
-;ow before themy, of having their highest €x-
pectations realized.

But this matter Las long since passed awuy,
snd we, at this time, scarcely realize the dix-
advantages, which in those days, were endu-
red. Neither are those who have come among
.8 at a later period, conscious of the extent io
which they are enjoying the fruita of our hard
=nd early labors.

The policy ofthings had at this period be-
.come changed, and instead of driving all the
~oads in the direction of Chicago, and arrang-
:ng all the farms accordingly, they were frown
+his time forward pointed “eastward,” in the
dicection of Little Fort. And wmany a poor
iellow, who after repeated unsuccessful trisie
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to get a road through his farm, and as near his
door as possible, at length found himself with-
out an effort upon one ofthe best thoreugh-
fares in the County.

Mr. D. O. Dickinson had opened a full
and well selected stock of geods at Little
Fort, in the building which he still occupies ;
and at once commenced doing everything in
his power to benefit the farming community
by offering them his goods on very reasonable
terms and paying them in return a fa:r price
for their produce. The gratitude of the whole
County is justly due to Mr. Dickinson for his
untiring efforts in sustaining this town. His
enterprising example is one, most worthy of
imitation ; and we cannot but rejoice at the
success which has attended him, at length in
spite of all the efforts which may have been
put forth by others, to impede hh:‘rorzgm

The County Commissioners red by
way of inducing those who had purchased
Jots, to build upon them, that wheever should
erect a building by a certain time upon his
lot,” worth ,8 should have his first in-
stallment cancelled, and if worth $500,
should have his first and second installment
cancelled, and if worth $1,000, the remaining
three installments should be cancelled. Many
availed themselves of this very generous offer
on the part of the County, which gave quit,
-an impuise to the business operations of the
town.

At the December Term of the Commission-
ers Court, a contract was entered into with
Burleigh Hunt for the building of the Jaii,
which was completed the ensuing summer

Anether important election for County off -
cers, was at length nearat hand. The friends
of Little Fort put in nomination the following
ticket, styled the Democratic ticket.
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For Representative—Richard Murphy.

For Sheriff—Lansing B. Nichole.

For Coroner—Henry M. Paddock.

For County Commissioner— William Ladd.

In opposition to which the “Grove” party,
or friend of Libertyville, put in nomination the
following, which was styled the Whig ticket.

For Representative—Arnold Bigelow.

For Sheriff—John E. Clarksou.

For Coroner—George Wood.

For Counjy Commissioner—Elisha Clark.

Mr. A. B. Wynkoop, the Recorder for the
County, had placed himself before the people
as an independent candidate for Representa-
tive. It will be recollected 1hat this County
and Coek at that time, formed a Representa-
tive District. Coek County having two Mem-
bers and Lakeone. This move among others,
#ave rise to another Democratic Convention,
which brought out the following ticket.

For Sheriff—James McKay.

For County Commiss'r—Nathaniel Vose, Jr.
which body also passed a resolution in favor
of Mr. Wynkoop. The election was, asa
inatter of course, warmly contested, and result-
ed in the success of the following candidates,
Richard Murphy was elected Representative,
James McKay, Sheriff ; Henry M. Paddock,
Coroner, and William Ladd, County Commis-
sioner.

Although Mr. Nichols and Mr. Clarksou.
had both been warm supporters of the inter-
ests of Little Fort, and were withall, consid-
ered very worthy men, yet tha enterprising
spirit of Mr. McKay, together with his good-
ness of heart, had won for hima generous es-
teem throughout the County, in consequenvs
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of which he met with easy success over his
competitors,

This season closed with but ordinary suc-
cess on the part of the farmers. The crop of
winter wheat and corn had been light, while
that of oats and spring wheat, had been some-
what better ; but prices continued discour-
agingly low. One of Wha lowest and severest
winters followed that the oldest inhabitants
have any recollection of. The farmers bad
provided themselves with only their usual
stock of hy, which being exhausted long be-
fore opening of spring many of their cattle
died for waut of teed.

This winter was one filled with interest, and
is oneloug to be remembered. The prophe-
cies of *“The Prophet Miller,” in relation to
he destruction of the World tuking place
some tiise in the month of March. 1843, had
cnused great excitement in this County, as
well a8 elsewhere. Many had become so
confident of the truth of this prophecy, as to
make sll preparation for departing at the
time appointed.

During a protracted meeting at Marble's
Schoolhouse at Fort Hill, a ben's egg was
found upcn the premises of' Chauncey King
with this wscription indellibly engraved upon
it, “Tine exos 1843.” This strange pheno-
menon was the cause of much excitement and
alarm in the neighborhood, and become the
zubject of quite a discussion at one of the
evening meetings, at which it had been pro-
duced by Mr. King. Many seewed ready to
receive it us one of the “xigns - of the times,”
aud eonceded it was u forerunner of the end
of time and the destruction of the World. No
ane preseut could account for the manver in
which these letiers bad been caused to appear
upon it. At length it was snggested by a
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person present, who seemed to possess rather
ioro sagacity than the balance of the audi-
encs, that in his opinion the inscription was a
matter of art and nothing more ; that he be-
lieved he could himself prepare an egg upon
which the letters would appear in the same
manner : and on bis return home would make
the trial, and if he succeeded,’ he would pro-
dluce it at the meeting on the following even-
ing -

He nccordingly made the experiment as
agreed. The words “REPENT AND BE Barti-
zep” were marked with oil upon the shell.
‘Fhe egyr was then put into strong vinegar,
when ufler remaiuing a time, the surface of
the shell was found to be decomposing but
she acid had no effect upon that portion where
ihe oil had been applied, conrequently it left
tie form of the letters perfect—raised out
irom the shell in such a manner asto givethe
appearance of being so formed in nature.
This on being presented to the meeting
nzeded no explanation or comment

The humbng at once exploded, whilst the
«redulous audience vainly endeavored to hide
their mortification from tnose, whom creduli-
iy had fuiled to ninke such easy victims.

So credulous was one old mmun who exami-
ned the cgi presented by Mr. King, that he
i:nmediately returned home, fully persuaded
that it was n special warning of Provideuce of’
the near approach of the end of the World.
1lis life hitherto had been far from what it
ought to be, which he now, and perhaps for
the first time most freely acknowledged. He
nad been entangled in many perplexing diffi-
cuities with his neighbors, which they bad
endeavored, but in vain, to arrange.

At this time he was in difficulty with
:wo, living uear him, whom he immediately,
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on returning home, summoned to his house.
He informed them ina very sincrre manner,
of the warning he had received ofthe destruc-
tion of the World, and expressed a desire to
&r:rn himself at once to appeur Lefors his
er. He humbly implored their pardon
for the injuries he bad done them, if any, and
u:kod that he nﬁ(l:i‘b.mko them, just and ltl:l‘i
ple reparations. ir pardon was grantei
on eol;’;ition that the matters of dig:enee
between them should be promptly and equit-
ably arranged. He therefore proceeded to a
settlement, which, with one, was at once
completed to the satisfaction of all concerned,
while the settlement with the other was post-
poned for a day ortwo, by consent of parties,
for the concurrence or assistance a third:
person, who seemed to be somewhat interest-
ed, and who was at this time absent. .

The day and hour for concluding the set-
tlement at length arrived. Meanwhile it will
be understood that'the egg mystery had been
sll unfolded. The injured party accordingly
waitad upon our old friend, und informed hun
that they were ready to proceed with their
settlement. “To h—I with your settlement,”
says our old friend—the new convert,—*the
egg businessis all a d—n humbug, and Pl
have nothing more to do with vov,
nor your settlement. Tl put you through,
every one of you,—get out of my house, or I'll
sue fou for tresspass.”

Thus the rpatter ended. The untimely dis-
covery of the “humbug,” defeated farther ne-
gociations between the parties and the difficul-
ties between them, unfortunately rewmained as
before.

Upon the approach of the August election
for 1843, considerable anxiety, 2s usual, pre-
vailed. The feeling between the two section-
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al ies had increased rather than abated.

n addition to the County officers, members
of Congress were to be elected, throughont
the State under the apportionment upon the
census of 1840. The candidates for this, (the
4th District,) were Col. John Wentworth,
Democratic, Giles Spritig; Whig, and Richard
Murphy, lndependent. Dr. Murphy, however
withdrew upon the eve of the election ; when
Col. Wentworth was elected by a flattering
majority.—His subsequent deserving success
is well known to all ; and the service which
he rendered his constituents, during his seat
in Congress, we are pleased to say, has won
for bim their highest regard while he _has
earned for himself, such a reputation as can-
not easily impair.

For County officers, the’following were the
successful candidates, Seth Washburn was
elected County Commissioner ; Arthur Pat;
terson, County Commissioners’ Clerk ; H. N.
Heald, re-elected School Commissioner ;
Horace Butler, Probate Justice of the Peace;
Samuel M. Dowst, Recorder; D. O. Dickinsou,
Treasurer and Assessor; and George Gage,
County Surveyor.

Mr. Washburn from his locality in the
County was, as a matter of course, strongly
inclined in favor of Libertyville. Yet great
credit is due to him for his imnpartiality, and
manifest integrity, in the discharge of hisdu-
ties as County Commissioner, during his
term of service. :

On the 15th of September, 1843 ; at the
September Term of the County Commission-
ors Court, a contract was made and entered
into by the County Commiasioners on the part
of the County, with B. P. Cahoon of South-

_ port, Wisconsin, for the building of the pres-
ent Court House, which by the terms of the
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cgnrnct was to be completed during the year
1844.

The said Cahoon was required to file secu-
rity for the faithtul performance of his con-
tract, to he approved by the Court upon woich
the Commissioners were to transter to him all
the unsold lots and blocks in the original town
of Little Fort, belonging to the County. The
said Cahoon was also, in this contract, to
redeetn the outstanding orders of the County,
issued on account of the County land ; inclu-
ding the amount still due and unpaid upon
the building of the County jail, provided ihe
whole sum should not exceed $950. As 1o
thd value of the unsold lands, which were con-
veyed to Mr. Cahoon by this eontraci, the
writer is unable to speak, but itis gencruliy
believed that nothing was lost upon tiiz pait
of Mr. Cahoon, but on the contrary, that eome-
thing pretty handsome was realized by him.
But be this as it may, it was perbapaa very
Judicious operation on the part of the County.

The Court House was completed, and ac-
cepted in the full of 1844 ; in tine fur the full
terin of the Circuit Court.

The prospecis of Little Fort had meanwhile
becoine exceedingly fluttering. Scveral good
stores had been opened, amoung which was a
very large and well selected stock, opened by
Nathaniel Pitkin of Chicago, which he was
offering at 1e luced prices, and was also giv-
ing a spirited com_etition i:-the buying of
wheat and other ki 1ds of produce.

In the fall of 1343, Mr. H. N. Hq ald resigned
his office as Sci o0 :| Commiss.oner, when on
the 8th of January following, at a special elec-
tion, E. M. Haine:, was elected to fill the va-
cancy.

At the August election for 1844, the follow-
ing persons were elected County officers:
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Horace Butler, Representative ; James
McKay re-elected Sheriff; John G. Ragan,
County Commiseioner ; and Gilbert Granger,
Coroner. A spirited opposition growing out
of the feeling beiween the two local parties,
was given to Messrs. Butler and McKay,
which was carried to that extent thatit
amounted to but little less than persecution.
The result of which was, however, that it
made for thém many warm personal, as well
as political friends; and it probably convinced
their enemies of the truth of Dr. Franklin’s
saying, “that whatever is begun in anger ends
in shame,”

This was theflast of the two sectional parties
growing out of the re-location of the County

seat.

On the 4th of March 1845, the first number
of a Newspaper, entitled the “Little Fort
Porcupine and Democratic Banner,” was iasu-
ed at Little Fortby N. W. Fuller as Publisher,
and A. B. Wynkoop as Editor and Proprietor;
it being the first Newspaper published in the
County.

We give the foilowing extract from the
firs t number of this paper, which will be best
appreciated by those who were best acquaint-
ed with its subsequent character.

“To-day, March 4th, is notable for two
things. Itis the inauguration day of President
Polk, and Vice President Dallas, as- well as
the “Little Fort Porcupine and Democratic
Ranner.” Great doy this, at Little Fort and
Washington.” - :

Itis probably unnecessary to make any
comment upon the general charscter of this
sheet, as it is no doubt well - remembered. by
all who were residents ofthe -County at the
time of its publication, which was continued
enly for about two years, when it ‘was sus-
peunded “zine die.”
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The “Lake County Herald” by N. P. aund
8. M. Dowst, was the second Newspaper in
the County, Its publication was commenced
in the summer of 1845, and was continued for
one year only. It was Whig in its politics,
and was well and ably conducted.

Mr.N. P. Dowst had formerly been in
charge of the “Southport American,” one of

.the best conducted political Journals ever
published at that place, and consequently was
no strauger to the task before him. This

r would doubtless have continued its
publication to the presentday ; but it was
soon ascertained that the business of the
town and surrounding country would not sup-
port it. The population of Little Fort being
at that time only about 500.

At the ensuing August election, the follow-
ing persons were elected County officers : D.
O. Dickinson was elected County Commis-
sioner ; E. M. Haines re-elected Scliool Com-
missioner, and Jeremiah Porter was elected
Treasurer and Assessor.

This election, although of but little import-
ance, was a very exciting one. Benj. Marks,
Esq., was the opposing candidate for County
Commissioner ; but through the influence of
the “Porcupine and Banner” connected witl:
that of certain individuals, he was defeated.

Nothing occurs to our mind, at the present
time, as having transpired during the coming
year, worth of note.

The August election for 1846, eowme oft
after a spirited contest ws usual, with the
following result : George Ela was elected
Representative ; James. McKay, Sheriff ;
Michael C. Maguire and Jacob Drum, Count,
Commissioners ; (Mr. Ragan having resigned,
leaving a vacancy of two, in the board of
Commirsioners,) and Henry W. Dorsett was
-lected Coroner.
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At this election the question ofa Convention
for the revision of the State Constitution was
submitted to the people by an Act of the
Legislature at its Session of 1844 and 45,
which resulted in favor of such Convention by
a large majority.

Under an Act to re-apportion the represen-
tation in the several Counties in the State,
Lake and McHenry Counties were to form n
Senatorial and Representative District; being
entitled to three Representatives ; one for
each County, and one for the two Counties
together.

This Act however was superseded hy the
new Constitution, and consequently never
went into effect.

‘The third Monday in April 1847, was the
time fixed for choosing the Delegates to
amend the State Constitution. Lake County
being entitled to two Delegates in the Con-
vention. The candidates regularly in the
field, were Hon. Horace Butler, Hon. Hurlburt
Swan, Ii. W, Hoyt, Nathaniel Vose, and Mi-
chael C. Maguire, Messre. Butler and Swan
were electec by flattering majorities.

Mr. Butler had previously served one term
in the Legislature, during which he secured
for himself the esteem of that body and the
entire confidence of his constituents. This
expression, therefore, ofthe electors of the
County was but a renewed assurance of their
continued regard.

In the fall of 1846, D. O. Dickinson resigned
his-office of County Commissioner, whenata
?ecial election, in January following, Alva

rowbridge of Libertyville, was elected in
his stead.

In June 1846, Mr. Gavin resigned his offiee
of Clerk of the Circuit Court, when Isaac
Hopkinson, Esq., a member of the Lake

4
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County Bar, and the first lawyer who settlea
at Liule Fort, was appointed by Judge Young
in his stead. He continued in office untit
June 1847, when he was succeeded by George
Thotson, Esq., of Fort Hill, under appeint-
ment of Hon. Jesse B. Thomas, who had
~ sueceeded Mr. Young as Judge of the7th
Judicial Circuit.

Mr. Hopkinson was & man of good abilities
and highly respected. His generous and
affable demeanor, together witk his upright.
ness of conduct had gecured for himalarge -
circle of friends in the vicinity in which he
Jived. Hedied in April, 1851, in the prime
of lite, leaving an interesting fawily, to mourn
his untimely loss.

In the suminer of 1847, a newspaper, enti-
tled the “Lake County Visitor,” published by
N. W. Fuller, under the editorial supervisior.
of H. W. Blodgett, Esq., inade its appearancc
upon the ruins of the “Porcupine,” but when
we say that itarose upon the ruins of the
“Porcupine,” we do not wish the reader to
infer that in its character, it was, inany re-
spect, like that of the “Porcupine,” but on
the contrary, the “Visitor” was conducted
with ability and discretion, and was during
its existence, n very popular journal. It was
neutral in politics; but it publication was
continued only for about six montbs.

Ugpon the opening ot spring this year, it
was discovered throughout the County, as
well as throughout a great portion of Illinois
and Wisconsin, that the winter wheat which
bad been sown the previous fell, had been by
the very unfavorable winter and spring, en-
tirely destroyed, which less upon the part of
the farmers, especially in this County, many
of them have at the present day scarcely re-
covered from. They had, most imprudently,
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‘coutracted debts in addition to their former
incidental linhilities, upon the bright prospect
of an abundant crop of winter wheat, which
had now entirely failed. In consequence of
which, they were conpeiled at the close of the
vear,in order to eet their liubilities, and
-suvo themselves as they deemed it, from
harder fate, tc borrow money at unmercifut
rates of interest pnying in many instances as
high as sixty per cent.

The election tor County officers tor 1847
wvas a very exciting one. The office of County
Recorder, it was generally understood, had
hecome a very lucrative one; -in consequence
of which their were many eager aspirants. At
this timme, there was o thorough organization
in the County of their political parties. The
Democratic, Whig, ard Liberty party. Lach
had placed-candidates before the people and
were urging their claims. The election
closed with the following resnlt: D. H. Sher-
man was elected Recorder ; "Thomas Maguire
Probate Justice ; Clarles Hall, County Com-
missioner ; John L. Clark, Clerk of the County
Commissioners Court ; Isanc H Smith, Schoo!
Commissioner ; Ira Holdridge, Treasurer aud
Assessor ; and George Gage, County Sur-
veyor.

Mr. Clark continued in the office of Clerk
but a short time when he resigned, upon
which the vacancy was filled by the appoint-
tnent of Arthur Patterson, Esq.

Mr. McKuy soon after resigned his office of
Sheriff, whenan election was ordered to he
held on the 18th of October following, to filt
the vacancy of the two offices; at which
Henry W. Dorsett was elected to the office of
Sheriff, and An:os 8. Waterman, was elected
Clerk of the County Commissioners Court.

During the Septeinber term of’ ‘the Circuit

o,
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€ourt for 1847, a tragedy was perpetrated az
Fort Hill, the frightful nature of which caused
great excitement over ‘a wide porticn of
eountry. This however, isa matter which
perhaps might with propriety be omitted, but
as the writer has “promised and undertaken”
10 give n full and true account of the County,
embracing incidents of interest, he fuels him-
self called upon to give a _passing notice. of
this affiir. Names of individuals must ne-
cessarily be mentioned in connexion with the
wransaction, but as a jury of their country
subsequently acquitted them of the charges
preferred, making mention of the subject ut
this time, cannot certainly operate against
them.

On the morning after a ball or harvest
party, nt Goodale’s tavern, the body of one
Silas Marble vas found in the barn yard a
short distance scuth-east from the house, in a
achockinlgy mangled condition. Several large
clubs were found near the body, which gave
eonclusive evidence of the manner in_which
his death had been caused. Coroner Dorsett
was immediately notified, when an inquest
was sumnmoned over the the body, who after
kearing what evidense ceuld be adduced in
the case, returned a verdict ot death by vio-
Fence, and that they had. reason to suspect,
thut Joel B. Sherman, Jucob Sherman and
Spencer Miler, living in.the neighborhood of
Fort Hill, were guilty of the murder. They
were accordingly, on the following morning,
arrested, and confined in jail. They were
subsequentiy brought out, on a writ of habess

s before Judge Dickey, but were reman-
ded that the matter might have a further in-
vestigation, at the next Session of the Court;a
special term of which was ordered to be held
in the forepart of December following ; at
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wwhich theywere all indicted for the crime of
znurder, and put upon their trial. They were
most ably and ingentously defended byMessrs.
J. J. Brown of Chicago, and E. W. Hoyt and
H. \W. Blodget:, of Waukegan, and after a
protracted trial, were acquitted

It seemns from the evidence that the deceas-
ed was a young mun whose occupation had
been that of n pediar, traveling on foot with
tin trunks. That in the afiernoon of the
‘harvest party, he ‘was in the neighborhood of
the Shermans, traveling in the direction of
Goodale’s. He was uccosted by one of them,
and invited to tarry a while, when he could
ride up with thewm, as they intended going to
the party themselves. 1le accordingly did so.

He was known to have arrived at Goodale’s
in clompany with Miller and Jacob Sherman,
whi st they, in company with Joel B. Sher-
man were known to have returned without
hitn. Marble was not seen in the house after
about 10 o'clock in the evening, There was
also a portion of the evening that neither of
the accused could give any satisfactory account
of their wheie aboute. There was also som.e
~ingular movements upon the part of the
Sherinans during the cvening, as well as some
stutements afterwaids, on the part of Miller,
which bad a tendency 1o fasten zuspicion
pretty firmly upon them. But the swhole was
not suffieient it seews, to convict them.

Itis evident that some pers’n or persons
‘with whotn he must have been well acquaing-
‘ted, invited him to walk with them in the
irection of the barn, and on arriving there,
suddenly iuflicted several violent blows upon
his head with clubs which were afterwards
Jound near the body, which probably causcd
instant death , and while.the murderers were
tn the act of tuking from his pocket what
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little inoney he had in his possession, whici:
seems to have heen the objec: of the murder,
they were evidently disturbed or surprised
by a tean which was driven to the barn about
shat tims ; in consequence of which, the body
was left unconcealed in the position in which
it had been on the following morning.

It i3 supposed: by his friends that he had at
the time only about 8340 in money upon his
yerson ; only %30 of whichthe murderers
succeeded in obtaining, in consequence of
being so surprised.

Great credit was given to Mr. Dorsett for
the efficient manner in which he discharged
his duties both as Coroner and Sherift, during
<he pendency of this investigation.

CHAPTER VL

"I'he necessity of adopting more eflicient
measures for the support of the poor ot the
€ounty, had for some time been under the
consideration of the County Commissioners,
when at a Special Term of the Court in Oc-
tober 18147, they entered into contract with
Alva Trowbridge, who was at that tiine one of’
their number, tor the purchase of his farm at
Libertyville, containing about 199 acres, to be
held for the retreat and support of the poor.
The consideration for the same, ineluding
somne articles of personal property was 82,025,
»aynble as follows, §1,500 on the first Monduy
y March 1848; and: the balance ouv the first
Monday in March 1849, with juterest at six

er cent. afier the first payment become due.
ossession of the premises. was given on the
tirst day of December F847,

There was, upon the furin a very comforta-
¥le convenient dwelling house, sufficient fer
she purposes for which, in future, it was de-
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signed, together with the necessary out build-
ings.

This plan, however, of supporting the
County poor, was at length found to be very
sxpensive,—imuch more so, than had even
heen anticipated. An Actof the Legislature
was therefore obtained at its Session in 1851,
submitting the question of each township,
supporting its own poor, and authorizing the
County to dispose of the poor furm, which
resulted in favor of township support of the
poor. Whereupon an order was inade by the
a3oard of Supervisors to dispose of the farm,
with the exception of about forty acres, upon
which the buildings were situated.

The pelicy of the County Commissionersin
purchusing this farm, we believe, was not
zenerally approved of, especially by the tax-
paying portion of the inhabitants oftheCounty.
Tue writer, however, is not disposed here to
cast any serious reflections upoo that honora-
ble body in relation to this transaction of
theirs, or in relation to any of their doings.—
The record of that Court, is open to all.

About the first of October the publication
ofthe Lake County Chronicle, (now Wauke-
ran Chronicle,) was commenced by W. H. H.

ebey and Co, under the editorial supervision
of Mr. A. B. Tobey, which superseded the
Lake County Visiter. The Chronicle con-
tinues its;publication to the present time; and
has, we believe, ever received, and probably
justly merits a liberal patronage at the haads
of the citizens of the County.

The August election for 1848, at length,
was at hand ; it was one of considerable im-
portance,and was, as usual, most warmly
contested, The following was the result;
Life Wilson was elected to the office of Re-
preseuntative ; H. W. Dorsett, re-elacted She-
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riff; D. A. Reese, County Commissioner, and
Moses Evans, Coroner.

In the spring of 1849 commenced the grea:
excitement for Culifornia—the land of gold—
which subsequently induced great numbers
of our citizens to leave their homes for the
purpose of trying their fortunes in that fur oft
region. Among the early adventurers fromn
this County, were George Allen Hibbard,
Isaiah Marsh, George Ferguson, D. H. Sher-
man, William and James Steele, and Jacob
Miller. )

The fate of young Hibbard; who left in the
fall of 1848, Leing the first adventurer fron.
this Count{, is most sad torelate. He had
established himself at Waukegan in the mer-
cantile trade, with the most flattering pros—
pects of success before him, when at length
the current of fortune, seemed as if by magic,
10 be turned against him.—Betrayed and
forsaken by those who professed to] be his
1riends, he became disheartened, and at lengtk:
abondened all hope of ever regaining his
tormer position.—His proud spirit would
scarce permnit him to make the attemnpt, lest
he might still be unsuccessful. lnspired by
the vigor of youth, he resolved to leave his
friends and home, and try his fortune in
California. with the hope,that by a season of’
perseverance in that country, which wasnow
well understood to be one of spontaneous
wealth, he ight return home in such a
position as would enable him to trivmph over
his misfortunes.

On arriving at St. Louis, he learned that
Col. Freemont was in the city, raising a
company of adventurers to accompany him
across the plains; he accordingly waited upon
the Colonel, informed him of his intentions,
and desired to be enrolled in hisservice. His
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fiaukness of expression, together with his
dignity of manners, at ouce attracted the
attention of Col. Freemont, who soon hecame
so wuch prepossessed in his favor, that he
eurolled him as one of his corps ofadven-
turers, which now consisted of about fifty
persons, who had been selected with reference
to the journey before themn. They left St
Louis about the first of December 181%.
Nothing of importance occurred to impede
their progress, until they had renched a chain
of mountains about 1,500 miles {rom the
trortier, when their guide apparently became
bewildered, and they suddenly found them-
selves engulphed in mouutains of suow.
'I'heir stock of provisions soon became ex-
bausted, which left them no alternative, but
1o abandon their mules, and make the best of’
their way on foot-in search of nssistance. Ex-
hausted fzom hunger and;futigue, several of the
company, vne by oae, sunk down by the way-
side in despair, and closedl their eyes forever.
—Young Hibbard was among the number.—
Some three or four of the party had been des-
patched in advance, in quest of relief ; they
at length returned with the glad tidings of’
success. ‘T'he survivors atonce retruced thew
steps to enquire into the condition of their
unfortunate companiong, whotn they had been
compelléd, most reluctantly, to leave hehind
them. They first came to the body of Hibbard
which was found lifeless, but somewhat warn',
Tt was evident, that, could they have reached
him a few moments sooner, he wmight have
been restored ; but it was now too late, Lis
spirit had departed to “that haven of peace,
where the wicked cease from troubling, and
where the weary shall find rest.” He left an
interesting and accoinplisl'ed companion, to
whom he had been innrried, buta few wouths
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previous to his departure, as well as a large
circle of friends and relations to mourn his
melanchely fate.

inthe spring of 1848, the cilizens of Wan-
kegan became nroused to the uccessity of -
King measures for the improvement of the
public roads leading westward, They were
veceiving liberal putronuge from the Counties
ot'McHenry xand Boone,und in order to en-
sure the same for time to come, they saw the
necessity of permanently improving some ouve
at least of the publie thoroughfures leading
irom Waukegan, westward. Accordingly a
meeting was convened at the Court House for
the purpose of confercnce upon the subj cr,
und for devising some means to accomplish
ihe objectin view., A committee of thres,
cousisting of Capt. Hiram lluguniu, E. W.
Hoytand Alva Trowbridge, was appointed by
tie meeting to investigate the subject and
report at an adjourned meeting. A very able
and eluborate report was made by the com-
ittee, in which they reconmmended the
organization of a Company or Association
under Chapter XL, of the Revised Statutes.
tor the purpose of'constructing a plank road
tromn Waukegan to MeHenry, which sugges
von hoing concurred in. Captain Hiram
flugunin, Elmsly Sunderlin and D.S. Dewey,
were chosen us u comtnittee to procure a
license trom the County CommissionersCourt,
ty enable them to construct the road in ac-
cordance with the law.

As is usually the case with great projects of
this nature, especially,in uew countries, after
the lapse of a few inomhs, the excitement in
2 measures githsided, aud the matter became
partinlly forgotten, which, however, resulied,
perhaps mostly trom a want of funds to
prosecute the work.
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In the fall of 1848, John Gage, Esq., whe
bad been a very successful business operator
in the City of Chicago, and who had at this
time become aresident, and a very extensive
land holder in the County of Luake, saw the
great benefits which would result from an
improvement of this kiud, and resolved to airi
the project. Accordingly at the December
Term of the County Commissioners Court.
the foilowing order wus procured and adopt-

ed.

Ordered, That liceuse and anthority be and
the same is hereby given to Hiram ugunit.,
Elmsly Sunderlin and Denuis S. Dewey, their
Rliccessors or assigus, to construct and estb-
lish a Turnpike Plunk Causcway, from Little
Fort, [now Waukegan,] in Luke Counry, ta
the eust line ot Mcllenry Couuty, on the route
of the Belvidere rowl as itis now luid, or us it
inay hereafter e clinnged or re-located, and
they nay depart from and enter into said ronc
at uny place, for the purpose of straightening
or benefiting the location of the road ; coni-
mencing at or in  Little Fort aforesaid, and
continuing to the Mcllenry County line. They
have filed their bond, given the requisiic
security and aflidavits—paul the nasessments,
and otherwise complied with the provisions
fg"(l.e Statute of Revised Swtutes, puge 2351,
&e. .

oInd we further order, That the following
rates of toll be established as the maximum:—
For each 4 horses aud couch,

wagou or sleigh, 34 cts. per mile.
Foreauch 2 horses or oxen,

wagon or sleigh, 2Licta. per mile.
For 1 horse and buggy, wagon

or sleigh, &ec., 2 cta. per mile,
For 1 horse, 1 cem per mile,

For each head of cattle, 1£ ceut per mile.
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T'or each head ofsheep or hogs,  cent per mile.
and for things and creatures nct enumerated,
rates in accordance with the above.

Under this grant Articles of Association
were immediately entered into —the name and
style of which wasto be the “Lake and Mec-
1enry Plank Rond Agsociation,” with a Capi-
wl Stock of 845,000, about 825,000, of which
had been alrcady subscribed. 'I'he Stock
being divided with shares of 850.

‘The Articles of Association, provided for
the election of three Directors, aunually, one
of whom should act as Presidert, one as Se-
cretary, and one as Treasurer, to be deter-
inined among themselves,

At the first election, which was held at the
Exchange Hotel [Vollar House,] in Wauke-
gan, in December 1848, John Gage, John A.

Trrrell and Elmsly Sunderlin, where choseu
Directors : Mr. Gage waus selected as Presi-
dent; Mr. Tyrrell as Secretary, and Mr. Sun-
derlin as Treasurer. These gentlemnen have
been since anunually re-elected, and still cou-
tinue in office. The energy of Mr. Gage, and
the unsurpassed business qualifications of Mr.
Tyrrell areso well and favorably known o
ally that probalily no further comment is ne-
cessary.—The business affairs of this Associ-
ation cun never be couunitted to better and
safer hands.

‘I'he Association being now fully organized,
and the requisite assessments haviug been
paid upon the stock subscribed, the work of’
the roud was commenced. A contract was
entered into with Messrs. John Gage and
Alva Trowbridge, for the required amount of
plank ; for the purpose of furuishing, which
they erected a steamn saw-mill upon the Des
Plains River at Saugatuck, where all the
plank, except one mile of the east end, was
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sawed, After filling which contract, the mil
fell exclusively into the hands of Mr. Trow-
bridge who removed it to Michigan.

Early iun the spring, six miles of the road
was put under contract and completed during
the summer. The contractors were J. C.
Bloom, and Capt. Hiram Hugunin. The
summer following the road was put under
contract to Wallace Sunderlin, and Collins
Gowdy, as far as Hainesville, and completed
to that place about the first of October ; ma-
king the whole distance of the road comnpleted
at this time 123¢ miles. )

The following season, Robert Carroll was
employaed by the Company to extend the road
214 iles further, which was accomplishe«l
about the first of November 1851, making the
whole distance of the road now completed, 15
milles atla probable cost of about 8{000 per
wnile.

At the Session of the Legislature for 1851,
the Association obtained the following enact-
ment. “That the Lake and McHenry Plank
Road Association shall have the right to extend
their road from its present termination thro’
the Counties of Lake, McHenry and Boone,
iofsuch direction as the said Company may
choose, on obtaining the consent ofthe Board
of Supervisors of the respective Counties
through which said road shall pass ; and may
mmke a good turnpike road without plank
wherever the nature of the ground will admit,
and for this purpose the time of completing
the road shall be extended to the first day of
July, A. D. 1860, and they may at all times
exsrcise and possess all rights and priviliges
ower the road as fur a8 it is constracted, as
fully as they would be were the read fully
completed.

%The capital stock of said Company may
be increased to $150,000.”
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This road has three toll gates established
upon it, for the collecting ot toll ; one about
a mile west of Waukegan, one atthe residence
of John Gage, and one at Hainesville.

The roud has thus far paid a good interest
upon the capital invested.

All must acknowledge, that this road has
given a greatimpulse 1o the business affuirs
of Waukegan, and while it has done this, it
fins greatly enhanced the value of property
throughout the County,'especially through the
central portion of'it.

Atthe election for County officers for 1849
which had now been changed by the new
Coustitution, to the first Tuesday after the
first Monday in November of each year, a vote
was taken in pursvance of law, for or against
township orgunization, which resulted us fol-
lows :

For township organization, 1092

Aguinst do. do. R

The following is the result at this electiot:
for County officers :

Judge of the Court, \\Qn. A. Boardman.

Associates, * § poig, iy

County Clerk, Amos 8. Waterman.

Treasurer, John A. Tyrrell.

School Commissioner, Lyman Sprague.

The election having resulted in favor of
township organization, it become the duty of
the Board sitting for the transaction of Coun-
ty business on the first Monday in Decemnber
following to appoint three Commissioners to
divide the County into Towns and affix their
numes. The County Judge aud his Associ-
ates not having received their commissions
from the Governor on the first Monday in
December, the old Board of County Commiis:
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sioners proceeded to hold the term of Court,
at which they appuinted Cul. J. Moulton, Mi-
chael Dulanty and Elijah M. Haines, as the
Commissioners to divide the County of Lake
into Towns, under the law establishing
township organization, who upon being quai-
ified according to law, entered upon their
duties in the month of January tollowing,
when the County was divided into T'owns as
tollows, Each Congressional Township in
the County was set off as a Town for organ-
ization, except fractional Township 46,
Range 9, being 4 miles in width, which was
attached te Township 46, Range 10; the
name of Benton was apphed to ‘Township 4G,
Range 12. The name of Newport was appli-
ed to Township 46, Range 11. The name of
Antioch was applied to Town 46, Range 10
and 9 ; taking the name from - the Village of’
Antioch therein. The name_ of Goodule was
applied to Township 45, Range 9, in honor
of Deveraux Goodale, Esq., one of the early
and enterprising settlers of the Township.
The name of Avon was applied to Towunship
45, Range 10. The name of Warren was ap-
plied to ‘Township 45, Range 11. The name
of Waukegan was applied to Township 45,
Range 12, taking its name of course from the
Villuge of Waukegan therein. The name of
Shields was applied to Township 44, Range
12, in honor of Gen. James Shields, now of’
the United StatesSenate. The name of Lib-
ertyville was applied to Townehip 44, Range
11, taking its name from the Village of Liber-
tyville therein. The name of Freemont was
applied to Township 44, Range 10,§in honer of’
Col. J. C.Freemont of California. The name of’
Wauconda was applied to Township 44,
Range 9, taking its name from the Villuge ot’
Wauconda therein, situated upon Bangs’
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Lake. The name of Troy was applied o
Township 43, Range 9, but subsequently
changed however by the Board of Supervi-
sors to Cuba. The name of Ela was applied
to Township 43, Range 10, in honur of Hon.
George Ela, one of the early and enterprising
settlers of the Township, and formerly a
presentative in the State Legislature from
this County. The name of Vernon was ap-
plied to Township 43, Range 11, and tue
name of Deerfield was applied to Township
43. Range 12.

On the first Tuesday in April following
(1850) the first Town Meeting was held in
each Town for the election of sI‘own officers,
and the transaction of Town business, the
result of which will be given in its proper or-
der in part second.

The first Board of Supervisors convened in
the County of Lake, was convened in Special
Session at the Court House on the 22d day of
A:crril 1850. The following members appear-

and took their seats : :

Harrison P. Nelson from the Town of Antioel.

John Gage, “ Avon.
Harrison L.Putnam, “ Bentoo.
Philetus Beverly, *¢ Cuba.
Caleb Cadwell, “ Deerfield,
Stephen Bennet, « Ela.
Hurlbut Swan, “ Freemont.
Chester Hamilten, ¢ Goodale.
William Craue, “ Libertyville,
John Reid, “ Newport.
MichaelC.McGuire, ¢ Shields.
James Moore, “ Vernon.
Peter Mills, “ Wauconda.
H. Whitney, “ Warren.
Jas. B. Gorton, u“ Waukegan.

About the first of August 1849, the publi«
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#ation of the Waukeﬂn Free Democrat was
eommenced by John Henderson as Publisher,
under the Editorial supervision of N. W. Ful.
ler, formerly publisher of the Porcupine, the
publication of whrch was continued only fer
about six months =~ L

The general election for County officers for-
16850 came off with the following reault:-

urlbut Swan was elected Representative to
the State Legislature; Lyman Bprague, She-
1iff; K. M. Hutchinson, Treasurer ;. Lero
D. Gage, School Commissioner ; and }:
Bangs, Coroner.

In the month of October 1850, was com..
menced the. publieation of the Waukegan
Gazette by N. C. Geer, which for extent of
eirculation, has thus far exceeded any news-
paper ever published in the County.” Itis a
spirited advocate of Whig principles, and has.
tlone much to restore the position of the party
in Lake County.

The November election for 1851 for County
officers, came oft with the following resuls:.
K. M. Hutchinson, Esq., was cletted Treasu-
ver ; O. M. Burke, School Commissiener ; and.
George Hale, County Surveyor,

The Logx:ature at its Session in lsfﬁ
passed an Act to incorporate a Company for.
gomstructing a Rail Road frots Chieage to the
State line in the direction of Milwaukes, by
way of Waukegan. A sufficient amount of
Btock has already been subscribed to enable
the Company to consumate its o ization
by the election of Directers ; and it is now
nade certain that the work of the road #ill be
sommenced by the opening of the coming
spring, and speedily completed. The routs
%o pursue frem Chicago to Waukegan is now
in agitation ; liberal propositions we under
stand have been made to the Company, st

-8
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¢6
difforent points, but as yet the matter remains
nt;?ecided. '

‘The Company however seem willing and
inclibed in the location of the road to take
into consideration the interest of the public at
largé, and especialiy that of the inhabitants of
the County, every citizen of the County being
anore or less interested in the enterprize, for
the work when completed will render Lake
County in advantages and facilities, nearly
equal to any County in the State. Lot «ve:v
sae therefore show his good will.

Erp or Parr L
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flaving soncluded our general observa-
tions of the County, we now proceed to give
a brief review of euch Township in its order,
and in doing so the writer has been, perhaps,
more minute than may be thought proper, or
necessary to interest the reader at the present
<lay, but the time will come when a preduc-
iicn of this kind will be sought for and read
with interest, and the more winute it is in i3
charactsr, the more interes it will contmin
sor the reader.

PART 1L

TOWN OF ANTIOCH.

This Town is composed of Township 4¢,
north, Range 10 east, and that part of Town-
ship 46, north, Range 9, lying on the west,
belonging to Lake Loumy.. being four milesin
width, mnkmg the whole length of the Town
10 miles by 6 in width. ltis bounded on the
north by Wisconsin, on the east by Newport,
on the south by Aven, and on the west by
McHeunry County.

This Towun has within its’ borders, 13
Lakes, as fojlows: Dunn Lake, Stevens Laks,
Grass Lake, Lake Maria, Chanpel Lake, Luke
Cnthurme, Silver Lnke, Loon Luke, Decr
Lake, L Lake, Crooked Lnke, Deep
Lnke, Sun ke, Cedar Lake, Petite Lake,
llf;llt:dkercluct Lake, Bluff Lake, and Hastinge

e.
There are also 4 other Lakes, whiih Lie
5
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partly in other Towns, as follows: Overton
Lake, Cross Lake, Fox Lake, and Hurlburt
Lake ; most of the Lakes in this Town are
equally beautiful with those of the other
Towns in the County, and their average size
18 about the same.

I addition to the foregoing Lakes, this
‘Town is watered by Fox river, Otter creek,
Sequoit creek, Nosth brauch of MiM creek,
Hastings creek, and Petite creek. Upon Se-
quoit creek, there is an excellent saw mill,
situated in the Village of Autioch, which was
built by Mr. Hiram Butrick ip 1839,

The first permanent claiing of Governmeut
Lands inade in this Town, were made in the
month of December 1336, by D. B. Gage,
Thomas Q. Gage, and Thomas Warner. The
first house built within the limits of the Town,
was built in April 1837, by D. B. and Thomas
Q. Gage, near Sequoit creek, on the present
site of the Village of Amtiveh. The second
was built by Thomas Warner, near Loon

ke, in the month of June of the saue year,
These gentlemen had located themselves
temporarily at Walker's bridge, on the Des
Plains river. in Cook County. In Deceinber
1837 they followed up the river upon an In-
dian trail, to Mill creek, from whence they
proceeded westward to Loon Lake, where
they madefihem a claim and put up a log
cabin, from whence, after & few days they
proceeded on their return, by way of the
Maquonago trail, which was a trail divirging
from the great Milwaukee trzil at a point near
the mouth of Indian creek, where formerly
had been an Indian Village, and runntog
from thence north-westerly to an Indian Vil-
lage in Wiscensin, called Maquonago.

Being late in December, the weather had
wecome severely cold and beisterous; They
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jound the trail much obstructed by fallen
trees, and being unacquaiuted with the route,
their progress was slow, in consequence «of
which they came near freezing to death, but
finnlly succeeded in reaching the house of
Willard Jones, at Jones’ point which wae
about 13 miles from Loon Lake.

The Villnge of Antioch—a thriving place—
is situated in the northern part of this Town,
on Sequoit creek. It wus cornmenced in 1840,
and contains at the present time about 300 in-
habitants. It nffords two good stores,a tav-
ern and such mechanics us are needed in an
agricultural country. It hasalso two lawyers,

8. Ingalls and Wm. L. Stevens, as well as
two excellent physicinus, Doctors L. D. Gage
and Daniel Lewis.

In 1840 the writer was present and partici-
pated at the first fourth of July celebration
held ut this plnce, uud it was such an occa-
sion as he will ever delight to hold in pleas-
ing remewbrance, and no less can probably
be said by all who participated. A good band
of martial music was in atiend:nce to give
sifo and spirit to the cccpsion. Freewan
Bridge acted as Martinl of the day, and ac-
quitted himself nobly. The Declaration of
Indepeudence was read by Hiram Butrick,
and an excellent oration was delivered by
Harrison P. Nelson, Esq.

The originai proprietors of this place were
D. B. Gage, ['. F.& P. Munson, and E. S.
lngnlls.

The first stock of goods opeued at this
place, we believe, was by F. F. Munson. The
first tavern or house of entertajnment was by
D. B. Gage, and the first blacksmith shop was
by E. F. Ingulls.

The eurly settlers of this Town were D. B.
Gpge, Thomos Warner, Thomas Q. Gage.
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Heunry Rector, Willinmn Fagher, Rob.
er, E. . Ingulls, Loami Piersons, E.
galls, H. P. Nelzon, H. Nichols, Cha
McClellen, F. F. Muuson, I'arnell M
Leland Cook and Hiram Burwick.

The Gages, Warner and Rector, were from.
thie State of New York; FFagher aund Stalker.
we believe, were nutives from the Isle of
Man ; the Ingalls, Peursons, Nelson and Mc-
Clellen, were from New Hampshire,

The tirat clection Leld within the presenr
limits of this Town, wes in October 1839, un-
der the old Precinct arrangement; which way
for the purpose of electing officers for Bristo!
P’recinct. This election was held at the house
of Thomas Waurner at Loon Lake, at which
there were 16 votes casi—all told.—The fol.
lowing is a list oi'the voters. Thos. Q. Gage,
D. B. Gage. E. I'. Ingalls, tienty Rector; I1. 2.
Nelson, Miles Shepurd. Laomni Pearson, Chas.
O. McClellen, Thos. McClellen, Oren Parker,
George Rae, T'hos. Warner, Hiram Butrick,
J. B. Rice, I'. IF. Flunson and Horuce Butrick.
—Laomi Pearsons & Oren Putker were elect-
cd Justices of the Pence, and John B. Rice
and George Rue were elected Constables;

The first 'T'own meeting, in this Town, an.
der the present ‘Township organization was
held at the tuvern of 1). B. Gage, in ihe Vil-
Inge of Antioch. Dr. [, D. Gage was chosen:
moderator, and EIi 8. Derby, clerk. The
following is a list of the Tewn oflicers elected
at this meeting : Harrison P. Nelson, Super-
visor ; Eli Gage, Townclerk ; Thomas Webl,
Assessor ; John H. Eiliott, Collector ; Chas.
Webband Robert K. Colts, Justices of the
Peace ; Irn Webb, A. B. Paddock and L. C.
Stephens, Comnissiouers ot Highways ; Rob-
ert Pollock, Overseer of Poor; John LI, Llii-
ottand Albert Webb, Constables. The num-
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be‘é of votes cast at this Town mieeting wos
145. "
The present Town oflicers of the T'own, ars
as follows : Supervisors, Charles Webb ; As-
sessor, Geo. Hale; Townclerk, Delos 8. Cook ;
Collector, S. S. Drum ; Commissioners of
Highways, Myron Emnons, H Linceln and
Chester Ames ; Overseer of the Poor, John R,
Arnold ; Justices of the Pence, Chas. Webb,
L. D. Gage, and .. S. Ingalls, (Associate Jus-
tice of the County Court) ; Constables, John
H. Eliiott and 8. S. Drum. The present
County Surveyor, George 1lale, resides in this
Town. The number of votes cast atthe last
Town meeting was 169.

'This Town is divided into 11 echool dis-
driets. 'The amount of township schooel fund
for Town 46, Runge 10, is 81,400,

The post offices in this Town are Antioch,
Hlickory and Milburn. The office at Antioch
was established in 1846, and Dr. L. D. Gage,
appointed Postmaster. The office at Hickory
was established, February 3d, 1848, and Ches-
ter Ames appointed Postmaster, who still
continues in office. The office at Milburp
was established, February 10th, 1848, and
Robert Strong appointed Postmuster, whe
still eontinues in office.

The inhabitants ot this Town ure mostly
from the states of New York and New Hamp--
shire and are churacterized for their industri-
ous and temperute habits )

"This Town, {or the rearing of stock proba-
bly possesses advantages over any other
‘Township in the County—being so remarks-
bly well wutered, and at the same jtime g?_l-
sessing nn unsurpassed quality of soil. The
size of farms ranges fromn 40 to 320 acres.

The sssessinent value of property in this
‘I'own for 1850, including hoth real and per-
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son was $88904 00. The amount of tax ™
the same was $1,744 51. :

TOWN OF AVON.

This, as a Congressional Township i
known as Township 45, north, Range 10,
sast of the 3d P. M. 1t has within its limits
9 Lakes, as follows : Gray’s Lake, Cranberry
Lake, Taylor’s Lake, Round Lake, Sand Luke,
Slough Lake, the 3d and 4th of Gage's Lakes,
and part of the 2d and a wsmnall portion of'
Long Lake.

Grays -Lake takes its name from Willian:
Gray, who lived for several years upon its
borders, and was one of the early sctilers of
1his Towuship. This Lake is about ore half
mile in length und one fourth of a mile in
width, and lies in cection 27 and 34.

Cranberry Lake is but a amall pond upor:
the north-east quarter of section 28, which is
nearly surrcunded by a inarsh, affording
yearly an aburdance of cranberries.

While this marsh was in possession or Mr,
Bamuel Gunwoud. it is said that he usually
gathered from it, annually about 200 buskels
of cranberries.

Taylor’s Lake takes its name from an indi-
vidual of this nanie, who was the first settler
in its vicinity, and we believe, the first in the
Township. 1In 1835 he made a cluim of land
upon the north side of this Lake, where he
built a log house, and continued in posses-
sion till 1837, when the premises passed inte
the hands of Leonard Gage, where he contin-
nes to reside at the present time. This Lake
is about balf a mile long and about one hun-
dred rods in width, in section 21 and 22

Round Lake, the third of this chain, is sc
named from its round and regular form. This
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Yake is about three-fourths of a mile across it,
and is one of the most beautiful Lakes in the
County.

Sand Lake lies near the north —ine of the
Township, mostly in section two. Jti> near-
ly one half mile in Jength, and ahout one.
fourth of a mile in width. It is so named
from its sandy shores,

Blough Lake is but a emall pond, lying in
the south-east quarter of section three, and i
so named fromn ns heing mostly surrounded
by a marsh or slongh.

Gage's Lakes are g0 oalled from the Gage
brothers, who were the first claimants of laud
in the vicinity. 'I'his is a very beauntiful
chain of Lakes ot four in number. The fourth
is the largest of the c hain, being something
over a mile in length aud varying in width,
fr o m one-fourtl to three-fourths of u mile. It
lie 8 mostly upou section 11. ‘I'he third Lake
lies in sections 13 and 24, and is ubout eighty
rods across it; its formn bering nearly round.
About one half of the sscond Luke lies in
this Township on section 24,

In addition to the joregoing Laukes, this
"Township is watered hy Squaw or Deer creek,
which passes thraugis the sauth-western por-
tion of the Township, und also by the South
branch of Mill creek, which <msses through
the castern portian, upon wi.'h first men-
tioned stream there is one of tiie best saw-
mills inthe' County, owned by Mr. Nahum
White, situated in the western part of the
Township.

Probably no other Township iy the County,
which possesses an equully good quality of
Jand in other respects, with the exception of
Antioch, is as well and conveniently, watered
as this. The Lakes mostly have beautiful
gravel shores, and are so interspersed through
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6 Township as to afford an abundancs &f
water for every neighborhood. T

The early settlers of this Township werd
Noah Potter and sons, Churchill Edwards,
Delazan E. Haines, Harley H. Hendee, Davi
tlendee, Duvid Rich, Levi Marble, Georgs
Thompson, ‘Iios. Renehan, Leonard Gage,
Thomus Welsh, A.T. Miltimore, Lawrence
Forvor, Freeman Bridge, Nuthaniel King and
Williain Gray ; most of theso individuals are
still residents of the ‘Township. Noab Pottes
and David Hendee have since died, and Mr
flaines and Bridze have removed to other
States. Mvr. Potter and sons emigrated from
Penn’a. ; Edwards, Haiues, Hendees, Rich,
Gage, Bridge, iAing and Gray, were from_the
State of N. Y.; Marble, Thompson aud For.
vor, were from Ohio, and Renehait and
Welsh were from Ireland.

Two or three claiins of Governmant lands
were inade in this ‘Townshipin 1835, but no
improvements of any consequence were matle,
except the loz house or cabin ot Mr. Taylor,
until the stummer ot 1837, when the settle-
meut ut the Township may be said to have
tuirly commenced.

The Villag: cf [ainesville is within this
Township, about a mile and a half south froimn
the centre, on the Lnke ana Mcllenry plank
rond. ‘Uhe history of this place is probably
tamiliar to nearly every inhaliitant of the
County ; the writer has thereforc thought it
unnecessary to be very lengthy in his re-
inarks upon its rise and progress. The first
house upon the ground of the present Vil.
lage plot was built in the full of 1839, which
in 1844 was converted into a tavern house, Iu
February 18164 post ofii-e was established
here under the name of H.ainesville and Eli-
jah M. Huines appointed Postmaster. The
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following spring the Village plot was survey-
ed out aud recorded, which muy bz consider-
ed as the date of the commencement ot the
‘Town,

Amaong the first irihabitants of this Village,
were Elijah M. Haiues, the orizioul proprie-
tor, Jacob ‘T, DeVoe, Banjamin Weleh, Dr I'.
Dickinson, lanue A. DeVoe, Harvey Whitney,
Abner Fox, Dauniel Ingulls, Robert D. Gordon,
and Alvin Truesdell, ‘T'he place at this time
affords a large zod commodions public house;
two stores, und various mechanics, such as
are usually found in a conntry Village.

Thiere is a Musonic Lodge in this Village
of ubout 353 members and a flourishing  Divi-
sion of Sons of L'empeinnce of abw vt 40 mem-
hers. The post offices in this Town ar,
Hainesville, Angola, Guge’s Lakes and Fox
Lake.

There are inany independent and forehnnd .
ed farmers in this ‘T'own, who are at thistime
turning their attention to the rearing of stock
aad culture of fruit, The most extensive
farn, is thatof’ John Gage, situated in the
south-east purt of the Town. 'The most ex-
tensive denlers in stock are Leonard Gage
and Churchill Edviarda,

I'he lurge and extensive finit nursery of’
Levi Mupifig, E~q., is a matter also worthy ot
notice ; it.gdntains abont 50.000 trees of tho
vatious kinds of fruit and of choice varieries.

‘The ficst Town meeting in this Town was
eonvened at the Hotel in the Village of
Hainesville. Nahum White was chosen mod-
erator, and Leonard Gage, clevk, at which the
following persons were el cted Town officers:
John Gage, Supervisor; Orville Slusscr. Town
Clerk ; James Kupple, Overseer of Poor :
Caleb Aruold, Leonard Gage and Robert
Carroll C'omnmissioners of tlighways; Levi
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Marble and W, B. Dodge, Justices of the
Peace ; John Salisbury, Collector ; John Sal-
isbury and Robert D. Gordon, Constables ;
Freeman Bridge, Assessor. ‘The number of
rotes cast at this Town meeting was 128.

The Town meeting for 1852 was held at
Gage’s achool Louse; S. L. Emery was cho-
sen moderator. The following persons were
chosen Town officers : Superviser, Orville
Slusser : Town Clerk, 8. L. Emery’; Assessor,
Aaron F. Miliimore ; Collector, Smmuel J.
Avery ; Oversver of the Poor, E. W. Avery;
Commissioners of Highwuys, David Hall, Pe-
ter Wrightand Nalinmm White.

The assessment value of property in this
Town for 1850, inclnding both real and pej-
ronal, was $20.2G6 60. ‘The amount of tax
on the same was 21,037 23,

This ‘Pown has five entire school districts,
and five fractionn) districts, The umount of
ihe Towuship schocel fund is §1614 75 which
1 loaned at 10 per cent.

TOCWN OCF BENTON.

Benton is a fractional Township and lies in
ihe north-east coruer of the County and State,
and is boanded on the north by Wiscousin, on
the enst by Luke Michigan, on the south by
Waunkegan, and on the west by Newport.

There nre no Lakes within this Township ;
itis watered however by several small durable
rreeks or bracks, of pure water, made up from
wprings, which flow from the Prairies east-
ward, and empty into Lake Michigan.

‘There isa very beautiful Prairie in the
the north-west part of this Town, known
as North Prairie. It is about 8 miles in cir-
~umference. and for fertility of soil, show of
improvement, and beauty of scenery, is prob-
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ably nnsirpassed by any Prairie in the Ceuintyf
being undulating and besutifully skirted witle
fine groves of timber upon all sides.

The superior advantages of this Town
renders it exceedingly attractive for agricultu-
ral pufsdits, and in fact, probably, no other
" 'Town in the Cotinty, has its resources and
advantages better developed in an agricultural

int of view, than the Town ot Bentoun.

'aking every thing into consideration, it may
perhapsjustly be styled, the “Garden” of the
County. Like Antiozh and Avon, it iswell
supplied with timber ; having a fair share of’
woodland in propurtion to the Prairie.—The
groves ubound in various kinds of wild fruit;
such as plums, cherries, goose-berries and the
like ; whilst the Prairies produce an abund-
unt supply of strawberries and wild flowers.

Nelson Landon, Esq., was the first settler
withiny the limits of this ''own,—having
“pitched Lis tent,” in the fall of 1835 upon, or
near the spot where-he now reside.- Mrs. Lan-
don was the first white woman in this Town,
and tl.e only female who wintered in the
‘fown in 1835 and '36.

Mr. Landon is said to be the wealthiest
farmer that this Town at this time affords.
His farm consists of abeut 1,300 scres of land
in one body. It is stocked with 1,000 sheep,
100 head of cattle, and some of the finest hor-
ses in the western country. He has a dairy
of about 60 cows, from which he has inade,
from 100 to 130 lbs. of cheese per day. His
residence is about a mile and a half from
Lake Michigan, and about midway between
Waukegan and Kenosha, .

Jeremiah Stowell, Hanson Mineky, H.J.
Paddock, Philo Paddock, Jeremiah Porter,
John R. Nichols, Chester Butterfield, Samuel

P. Ransom, Rev: Salmon Stebbins; Edward.
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Pulnam, sen., Oren Jerome, were also among
the early settlers of this ‘Town.

1t may not be out of place here to remaik,
1hat the gettlement of this "Town having been
commenced at an early day. The early set-
tlers here experienced their share of the
hardship and privations incident to the settlc-
mentof a now country. The writer is infor-
med by one of them, ti:at they paid during
the fall and winter of 1835, fer dour 835 per
barrel ; for pork $25 per barrel ; for butter '30
cents pcl 1. ; for potatoes 33, 50 per bushe!
and for other artizles of provisions, in propm-
“ciom.

The first Town meeting in tlis Town, was
neld at the school house ncar B. T. Cook’s.
Chester 8utterficld was chosen moderator,
and A.'Q. D. Leuch, clerk. The first Town
-officers elected, were as follows : For Super-
-visor, [1. L. Patnam ; Towu Clerk, A. Q, D.
Leach ; AssessorfCalvin Truesdell; Collector,
‘C. Burrmgton, Conunissioners of nghwnys, J.
M. Moore, J. W. Bacon, C. Butler; Overseer
-of the Poor, Chester Butterfield ; Justices of
the] Pence, L. H. Ellis, and L. W. Bull ;
Constables, A. G. Buell’ and P. 1. Paddock.
‘The number of votes cast at this Town meet-

ing was 89.

he present Town officers are ns follows :

Bupervisor, Chester Butterfield ; Town Clerk,
J. W. Vouk ; Assessor, Cnlvm Truesdell ;
Collector, A G. Buell ; Commissioners ot
High vays, W. A, Eddy, A. Conly and J. Bull;

verseer of the Poor, Whiting Bacon ; Justi-
ees of the Pelce, E. 1L Ellis and L. . Bull ;
Constables, A. G. Buell and P. H. Paddock.

This Town is divided into 7 school districts,
The amount of TFownship school fund ie
81,500, This Town affords one fine church
and several goed schooi houses ; all 'tendmg
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%o give evidence of the intelligence, and the
enterprising epirit of the inhubitants.’

_ Wellington is the only post office in this
‘Town ; it was established in May, 1851, and
Peter Lown, Esq., apnointed Postiaster,—
who still reina’ns in office.

The vuluution of property in this Town,
for the year 1850, including both real and
personal, was 81,711.00. The amount of tax
somputed on the suine, was 1,234.19.

TOWN OF CUBA.

This Town lies in the south-west corne
of the County, and is bounded on the north
by Wauconda, on the east by Ela, on the
south by Cook County, and on the west by
McHenry County. Itis one of those fraction.-
al Townships upon the west Jine of the Coun -
ty, being one on;y 4 miles in width, and 6
miles in length. Itis watered by Fox River and
Flint Creek, nnd severa} sinali rivulets, be-
sidesone or two smaH ponds. Flint Creek
-takes its name fromn one Amos Flint, one of
the early settlers of this Township, who set-
sled upon the banks of this stream.

‘This Township is esteemed by the iahabi-
ants to be one of the best wheat ‘Townships
in the County; being mostly oak openings and
Aimber land, rendermg the soil of such a char-
acteras to prevent serious injury of the wheat
from the severity of the winters. ‘The inhab-

" itants of this Town are at this time, generally
in na prosperous and flourishing condition,

‘The Chicago und Fon Du Lac Rail Rcad

es through the southern part of this

'own, which is now in progress, and will be
erowded to a spgedy completion. The bene-
ficial results from this road, ere already ap-
preciated by the inhabitants ef this Tewa.
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Their peculiar location, has never, hitherte
afforded them the benefits of a public thor-
oughfure through their midst; in consequence
of which, they have been kept somewhat in
the back ground in a business poin: of view,
—keeping their lands 4t & low value, whilst
the completion of this Rail Road cannot fail
of doubling the value of their real estate.

The poliulallon of this Town, like that of
the other Towns of the Ceunty, is made up
from various portions of the civilized world ;
but as a community, the inhabitants are
marked for their temperate and industrious
habits, as well as for their perscverance and
integrity.

Among the early settlers of thisTown,'were
Olcott A.White, JoshuaA.Harndon,JobnElls-
worth, V. 1l. Freeman, Amos Flint, L. H
Bute, Robert Conmee, Robert Bennet, Jared
Gomstock and Freeman Martin,.

The first Town meeting in this Town was
held at the house of Noble R. Hayes. Joha
J. Bullock was choseit moderator, and Noble
K. Hays, clerk, ‘FThe first setof Town offi-
eers were as follows : Supervisor, Philetus
Beverly ; Town clerk, Nobie R. Hays ; Asses.
sor, Jacob McGilvra; Collector; Rob.. Conmes;
Overseer of the Poor Francis Helsey ; Com-
missioners of Highways, Jaines Jones, Lewis
H. Bute, Harvey Lambert ; Constables, Ches-
ter Bennett anu Wallace Bennett ; Justiees of
the Peace, Innis Hollister and Robert Ben.
nett.

‘The present Town officers are as follows :
Supennsor, Lewis . Bute ; Town Clerk,

ohn Sears; Assessor, Joshua Hamdon
Collector; John Juckson; Overseer of the
Poor, Robert Bennett; Commissieners of
Highwi, Harvey Lambert, James Jones and
John Wheeler; Justices of the Peace, Innts.
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Hollister and Robert Bennett; Constables,
John Bennett and R.P. Buck. This Town-
ship has a school fund of $3,839 43. The only
Post office in this Town is Flint Creek —J.
J. Bullock, Postmaster.
The valuation of property in this Town for
1850, includinﬁ‘both real and personal was
,/30 00. The amount of tax computed
thereon was $672 73.

TOWN OF DEERFIELD.

Deerfield is a fractional Township and lies
in the south-east corner of the County, and is
bounded on the north by Shields, on the east
hy Lake Michigan, on the south by Cook
County, and on.the west by Vernon.

The first settiement of this Town was com-
menced in the spring of 1836, by Jacob Cad-
svell and his sons, Madison O., Philemon,
Caleb, Hirutn, and Edwin, who emigrated
from Norfolk, in the State of New York, in
the spring of 1835. Among the balance ef
the early settlers of this Town, were Horace
Lamb, John Matthews, Lyman Wilmot, Benj.
Marks, Robert Dygert, John Cochran, Michael
Mehan, Magnus Tait, Anthony Sullivan, Jehn
King and Francis McGovern.

This Township is mostly timbered land,
having no Prairios, except a small skirt ofthe
Grand Prairie extending up-a short distance
into the south-west portion of it. o

There are soine two or three sluggish
atreams passing through this Town, flowing
south-ward, and ultimately forming the North
Branch of the Chicago River.

St. John's and Port Clinton, situated upor;
Lake Michigan, are within this Township.

The Village plot of 8t. John's was surveyed
seur;l years ago, but some litigation at
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length arose between the proprietors, involv-
ing the title somewhat, which seemed to put
an end to its- prosperity,” when Jacob C.
Bloom, a gentleman of great energy and en-
terprise, made a purchase of land upon the
Lake, » short distance south of 3t. John’s,and
laid out the Town of Port Clinton, which haz
become at this tima cne of thie most promising
Villages in the County.

The soil of this Township is of an excellen?
quality, and the furmers are gcuerally in o
prosperous and thriving condition.  ‘The pop-
ulation iz made up, mostly by people from
Ireland und Germany, with a small share of
Americans.

The tirst Town mmeeting in this Town was
held at the Grecn Bay houso; a tavern, situa-
ted upon the old Llihtary road, a chort dis-
tance south of Port Cliuton. Lyman Wilmo:
was chosen moderator, and Edwin Cadwell -
clerk. 'T'he’following were the ofiicers: Su-
pervisor, Caleb Cudwell ; Town Clerk. F. A,
Goodbady ; Assessor, John Millen ; Collector,
James Duffy; Overseer of the Poor, Philemon
Cadwell ; Commissioners of Highwnys, Ben-
jamin Raudenbusch, Michael Mchan and
Francis McGovern ; Justices of the Peace,
John Denker; Constable, H.J. Kollar. The
number of votes cast tor Town officers at this
meeting was 71.

The Post offices in this Town are Deerfield
and Port Clinton. Port Clinton was establish-
ed in April 1850, and Jacob C. Bloom .ap-

)ointed Postmaster,’'who is still in office. The
ost oifice at Deerfield was established May

4th, 1850, and Caleb Cadwell appoiated Post-

master, who likewise continues in office.

The assessment value of property in this
Town for 1850, incluading both real and per-
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soml was $56,740 00. The amount of tax
computed onthe same fdr collection was

8753 40.

TOWHN CGF ELA.

As we have already stated, this Town takes
its name from the Hon. George Ela, one of
its early settlers. 1t is bounded on the north
by Frecmont, on the cast by Vernon, cn the
south by Cock County, anden the west by
Cuba. It hins butone Lake within its border,
which is known as Lake Zurich, tuking its
name from a Like of that name in Switzer-
land ; which f.ake lies in the westcrn portion
of the Townsliiv, and covers about 500 acres,
and ig snid to bo one of’ the itost beautitul
Lakesin the County.

This Town is vlso watered by ths several
branchics of Indian Creek, which stream
takes its rise mostly within is limits,

The Groves of tliis 'T'own, are Long Grove-
Deer Grove and Ruseel’s Grove.  The wood-
land and preivie of this Town is not g0 :quaily
divided asin nicst of the other Towns of the
County ; th:ere being Ly fura greater portion
of the latter.

There are several large farms in this Town,
and many independent furmers, who have
commenced farming upon scientific princi-
ples.

‘I'he Prairiesare dry and undulating and

asy of cultivation. :

" A good shaure ol the population is made up
f Germans, who are every where characte-
ized for their integrity and hubits of in-
lustry.

T'hus Town has one fine Church, loeated at
Russel’s Grove, belonging to the Methodist

6*
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denomination, and whieh would do credit to
any of the older and more populous Towns
of the Eastern States.

The settlement of the Town was commen-
ced in the fall of 1835. Among the early
settlers, were George Ela, John Robertson,
S. A. Shephard, John E. Deil, George Cook,
and Richard Archer.

The first Town meeting in Town, was held
at the house of Charles S. Williams, at Rus-
sel's Grove. J. A. Halleck was chosen mod-
erator, and Timothy Bartles, clerk. The fol-
lowing were the Town officers elected, Su-
pervisor, Stephen Bennet ; Town clerk, J. A.
Halleck ; Justices of the Peace, Elisha Luke
and Oren Ott ; Commissioners of Highways,
E. Hubbard, A. Morse and C. R. Logun ; As-
sessor, Henry Morse ; Collector, Daniel Wal-
ters; Constables, Danicl Walters and George
Proutz ; Overseer of the Poor, John Clark.
'I'he nuinber of voies cast at this Town meet-
ing for Town officers, was 114,

This "Town has two postoffices,—Lake Zu-
rich and Ela. The post officc at Ela was
established in 1844, under the name of
Serryse, and George Elaappoicted postmas-
ter. The preseut postmaster is Daniel Potter.
The Town is divided ixto 11 school districts,
and has a school fund of $2,600.

The assessment value of property in this
Town for 1850, inclmlingrboth real and per-
sonal, was £78,503 U0. The amount of tax
computed ou the same was $1,026 11.

TOWN OF FREEMONT.
Freemont is bounded onthe north by
Avon, ox the east by Libertyville, on the.
south by Ela, and on the west by Wauconda-
The settlement ofthis Town was commene
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ced in 1836. Awnong the early settlers were
Daniel Marsh, William ¥Feawick, Dr. Bryan,
John G. Ragan, Hiram and flisha Clark,
Oliverand Stephen Paine, Nelson and Thos.
Darling, Joseph and Samuel L. Wood, and
and Thomas H. Payne. ’

The early history -of this flourishing Tewn-
ship. if detailed in full, would no doubt,
prove one of much interest to the reader, and
the writer much regrets that he is unable to
giveas full an account of it as he would
desire.

Fort Hill, a considerable sized mound,
which rises in the Prairie, in the northern
part of the Town, is a matter justly worthy of
a vpauing notice. Thos. H.} Payne, Joseph
Wood and Joel H. Johnson, (now a resident
of McHenry County,) were probably the first
svhite persons, who ever set foot upon this
¢pot oil ground, which was in the month of
January 1837, when they gave to it,at the
suggestion of Mr. Payne, the name of Fort
Hill ; in consequence of its commanding po-
sition over the surrounding country.

The settlement which they commenced in
the spring following, was for a long time
thereafter known as the ‘Fort Hill Settlement.’
In the spring of 1838, a post office was es-
tablished by the name of Fort Hill, about a
mile south-west from the hill, at the bouse of
Joseph Wood, who was appointed postmas-
ter.

The eastern portion of this Township is
mostly prairie, while the western portion, is
mostly woodland and oak openings. There is
however a fair share of woodland in propor-
tion to the prairie. A portion of Diamond
Lake is in the south-w~est: corner of the
Town, on section 36. On section 17 is
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another small Lake or Pond, called Grass
Lake, from whithSquaw Creek takes its rise
and runs north-westward into Fox River.

The inhabitants ard mostly from the East-
ern States, with a small share of Germans.
The neatand tasty appearance of the farmsin
this Township affords the best evidence of
perseverance and industry of its citizens,

The fruit nurgery of’ 'hhomas I1i. Payne,
Esq. is alao amatter worthy of a moments
attention, and one which rellects much credit
upon the flourishing Vown of Freemont. It,
contains about 1060.C00 trces of difficrent
kinds and varieties from 1 to 7 years old. He
has also about 30 acres of orcharding—com-
posed mostly of bearing trezs, and of the
choicest varicties of graficd fruit. Ho has
about Y0 verieties of apples, =about 20 of
peaches, 16 oi plums, 30 of cheirics, 40 ot
pears, 15 of grapes and 5 of epricots. In his
garden of flowers aud shrubbeiy, e had the
present year about GO varictics of Dalichs.

The first Town meciing for th:is Township
was l_cld at the housc oi’ Yeier C. Schenck, A.
B. Patridge was clhiosen moderatoi and Chris-
topher Seaber, zlerik. Lhe isliowing persous
were elected Towy officers : Liurlbut Swan:
Supervisor ; Christopher Bzcher, Town clerk,
Justices of the peace,Sheldon Wood aunddenry
Ames ; Commissioncrs of ilighways, William
Colvin, Joel B. Sherman und ‘Thomas H.
Payne ; Constables, E.P. Pennimman and D.
Gibbons ; Overseers of the Poor, A. B. Par-
tridge ; Collector, D. Gibbons.

'lghee only post effice in this Town is Gilmer,
which was established in 1844, and John G.
Ragan appointed postmaster. The present
postmaster of which is Joel B. Thomas. A
post office had eome years prior been estab-



TOWN OF GOODALE. 87

tished, near the present sito of Gilmer, called
Darlington, and Nelson Darling appointec
postmaster, which however, from some cause
or other was soon discontinned.

The Town is divided into 5 entire gchool
districts and 3 firactionel, which are attached
to other Towne. The ntmount of the Town-
ship school fuud is 83,365 €O, which isdraw-
ing interest at 10 per cent.

‘T'he valuation of property for 1850, inclu-
ding bothreal and perconal, was $73,150 00.
‘I'he amount of tax computed thereon was
2920 41,

TOWN OF GCODALE.

This is likzwize one of those fractional
‘Townzhips upon the wesiern boundary of
the County,beiny only 4 miies in width, It
is bounded on the north by Anticeh, en the
cast by Avou, on tha south by Wauconds,
and ou the wazt Ly Jellenry Ca- As wo
have before vemnarked, it takes its naine from
Deveranx Goodale, Baq., one of the exrly set-
tlers, 1tis wutered bty Fish Lake, Wooster
lake, Sulliven’s lake, slnd lake, Duck Ilake,
Long lake; part of. the Pistakee Lakes, and
some 2 or 3 smailer pends not named; also
by Squaw Cieck swhica passes through ihe
northern portion. It contains an area cf n-
bout 15360 acres of which about one fourth
part is covered with water. It has therefore
thae sinallest population, and least wealth of
any of the towns of the County.

Among the early settlers, were Harley
Clark, Rufus Willard, Robert Stanley, Ches-
ter Hamilton, Deveraux and Henry éoodalo,
T. D:.and D. C. Townsend and Timothy. B,
Titcomnb, -
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The first house was erected by Harley
Clark, near Fish lake in the summer of 183Y.

The land was originally inostly timbered
land, or woodland, with the exception of u
small skirt of prairie, extending up into the
south east corner of the Township. It ie
howevor well adapted to farming purposes.
especially to the raising of stock : and affords
many thriving and industrious farmers.

The Lake and McHenry Plank Road pas-
ses through the south east purt of the Town,
on Section 3G.

The only Post Office in this Town is Fort
Hill. Orren Marble I’ost master, which office
as we have before remark:d, was originally
established in the Townships now known as
Freemont.

The first Town ineeting was held at the
Goodale’s Tavern, at which the following per-
sons were elected Town officers: Chester
Hamilton Supervisor; D. C. 'Townsend, Town
clerk; Jebiel Campton, Assessor; Orren Mar-
bla, Collector; Cornelius ‘Smith, Overseer of
the poor; Calvin Clark, Rufus McWay, and
Robert Stanley, Commissioners of Highways;
Chester Hamilton and A. 8. Maliby, Justices
of the Peace; L. P. Barnes and Orren Marble
Constables. '

The valuation of property for 1850, includ-
ing both real and personal, was $33868. The
amount of tax computed on the same, tor col-
lection was $472. 56. . -

TOWN OF LIBERTYVILLE.

Libertyville is bounded upon the north by
. Warren, on the east by Shieﬁls, on the south

by Vernon, and on the west by Freemnont, It
* is one of the oldest settled Townships in the
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County, and much of its early history has
been already given underthe head of General
Observations.

Among its early settlers were Henry B.
Steele, Tobias Wynkoop, A B, Wynkoop,
William, Robert and Christophier Irwin, Ran-
som Steele, William Crane, D. C. Steele,
Hon. Horace Butler, Doct. J. H. Foster,
Charles H. Bartlett, William and James Loyd,
and E. Tingley.

The County seat of Lake County, as we
have already remarked, was originally loca-
ted at the village of Libertyville, and subse-
quently removed to its presdot site—which
removal as might well be expecied, some-
what retarded the progress of this beautiful
village. lts enterprising inhabitants have,
however, nevertheless, mmade it one of the
most delightful villages in the County.—It
contains at the present time some three or
four hundred inhabitants—two or three stores
a large and comnmodions Iotel, a steatn flour-
ing mill and saw nill, and above nll, two
fine churches, with which ornaments, by the
way, our western villages are not frequently
adorned, which fact alone will suffice for the
charaster and reputation of the inhubitanta,
and the state of society without further com-
ment. The village has also a Division ot
Sons of Temperauce of about 25 numbers.

The first stock of Goonds ever opened in
Lake County wasopened at this place by Hi-
ram Kennicott in June 1836, in a building
which stood near ths present site of the Dis-
trict School house.

The prairie lands-of .this Township, which
comprises about one half of its extent, from
their long occupation, and the character of
the occupants, are under an excellent state of
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cultivation.—Irmproved farms meét'with rea-
dy sales and probably commaad better prices
than in any other part of the county.

The Township is watered -by the Des
Plains river. Rush lake and Wynkoop's creek
The Des Plains, fiowing southward, through
near the ceatre of the Town. The land up-
on the west is beautiful and undulating prai-
rie, whilst that upon the east is mostly of the
first quality of woodlund.

The first Town meeting was held at Liber-
tyville village, und the fo.lowing persons were
clected Town ofticers : —

William Crane, Supervisor ; H, C. IIutch-
ingon, 'T'own clerk ; John Locke, Assessor ;
L. H. Hall, E. L1, AMason, and R. Drew, Com-
missioners of Highways; 8. P. Statton, Over-
seers of the Poor; S. C. Brown, Constble
and Cotlecior; and D. C. Steele, and C. F.
Apply Justices ¢f the Peace. The number
of votes cast wus 125,

The ouly Post cfiica in the Township is
Liberiyvilie, which was established in the
winter of 183G und '37, eed Henry B. Steele,
tisq., appointed Po:t master,

The "Lownship is divided into seven School
Districts, anid has a school fund of $1500.

‘The usscssment valuation of property for
the yeur 1839, including both reul and person-
al was $35399,00, and amount of tax cownpu-
ted upon the same was 81178, 13. ,

TOWN OF NEWPORT.

Newport is one of the most northern Town-
ships of the County and is bounded on.the
north by Wisconsin, on the east by Benton,
on the south by Warren, and on the west by
Antioch.
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Among the early settlers of this Township
weérp Jacob Miller; Merrill Pearsons, Alvin
Ames, James Melinda, John Reid, Asa Win-
ter,dPeter Cassidy, James Emery, Elijuh Al-
vord.

Jacob Miller was the first claitnant of Gov-
ernment land within its limits, who settled
upon Millcreek, (so named by him) in the
south part of the Township, in the summer or
fall ofP1835, and soon after erected at that
point, a Saw-and Grist mill, which was the
tirst grist mill erecteuin the Co. of Lake. He
was originally from Virginia,and immigra-
ted with his family to this S:ate aud scttled
at Chicngo a short time previous to tie Black
Hawk War, in which he engaged and rerved
to its close. He was one of those noble hear-
ted Virginians whoun the later settlers of lili-
nois cannot but remember with the warmest
feelings of gratitude ard respect for theie
kindness and hospitality in the carly settle-
ment of the State.

Being of an adveuturous spirit, and anxious
to obtain means whereby e might add to his
own comfort, and bc et cervice to his fellew-
creatures, he set ont with his two eldest sons,
in the spring of 1349, for Caliloruia—*tle
land of Gold.”

The fatigue nnd privations ol a protracted
journey, brought on disease, from which ho
died noon after reaching its termination,

This Township is watercd by the Des
Plains, which passes through nbout the cen-
tre; and Mill creek which passes through tho
south western portion, and empties into the
Des Plains near the south line of tho Town-
ship. There are somne matters of antiguity
here, which are probably worthy of a pass
ing notice. Upon the west.bank of. the Des
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Plains river, is a chain of those ancient mounds
which are found in various portigns of the
Western country which extends from near
the State line, southward some two or thres
oiles.—Many of them have been dug into by
the inhabitants, in which they invariably find
human bohes, almust entire, and of mare than
ordinary size. Upon the east bank of the riv-
er, a short distance below the State line, in
the midst ofa thicket of titnber, is a peculiar
spot which hus evident!y been the camping-
ground of the Aborigines from time imme-
morial. The ground being at the present
day strewed with the bones of aniinals and
shells of turtles.
The writer is informed by Alvin Aines Esq
that iu the winter of 1840, in cutting and split-
.ting a red onk tree, near this spot, he cut out
an ounce leaden ball which was 70 grains
tromn the surface ; haviug, as he thioks, been
lodged there ahout the year 1770, and was
probably dischurged from some French or
English inusket.
he lunds of this Township, are mostly
woodlands and vek openings ; and are mest-
ly oceupied at the present time, by u class of
thriving and industrious farmers.
In 1814, the Township was organised for
~School purposes and temporarily received
the name of Sterling. A Post ufficc was es-
tablislied upon the east side ot the river in
1346, under the name of Mortiner and James
Melinda appointed Post master ; which name
was however subsequently changed to New-
port 1o correspond with the present name of
the tewnship which is the only Post office in
town. : '
The total amount of the township School
fund is -$1080,70. The number of School
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Districts is ten, in which schools are taught
about oneshalf of the year

The first Town meeting was held at the
house of John Turk. Titus D. Gail was cho-
sen Moderator ; and Merrill Pearsons, clerk ;
Jobn Reid was elerted Supervisor; Caleb
Cook, and J. Lowe Justices of the Peace ; A.
J. Cummings, Constable; B. F. Backus, Ches-
ter Ames and H. C. Biddlecome, Commis-
sioners of Highways. The number of votes
cast for town officers was 158.

The assessment value of property for the
year 1850, including hoth real and personal,
was $94644. The amount of tax computed
thereon for collection was $1394,26.

TOWN OF SHIELDS.

This Township, as we have already re-
marked under the head of General Observa-
tions is so named in honor of General James
Shields, now of the United States Senate. It
is bounded upon the north by Waukegan, on
the east by Lake Michigan, on the south by
Deerfield, and on thewest by Libertyville. Its
settlement was commenced in the year 1836.
Among he early settlers were Doct. Richard
Murphy, William Dwyer, John Dwyer, Law-
rence Carroll, Benjamin P. Swain, 1saac Hick-
ox, Godfrey Dwelley, Michael Dularty, Mi-
chael C. McGuire, Thomas Maguire, late Pro-
bato Justice of the Peace. and John Mul-

lery.

r'i:he Chicago and Green Bay road, which
was established by the United States in early
days. and commonly known as the “Military
road,” '%aues through about the centre of the
Township, upon which the first babitations
were mostly erected. .

The land upon the wast sile of this.
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road is principalli prairie, whilst that upon
the east side is a body of dense woodland.

- The inhabitants are mostly natives of Ire-
land, and as a community are charactertzed
for their perseverence and industry, as well
as their integrity and promptness in all their
dealinga.

‘The Chicago and Milwaukee Lake Shore
rail road will probably pass through this to vn-
ship near the route of the Military road, the
con:pletica of which will add greatly to the
value of its woodlands.

The Post offices are Oak Ilill and LEmmet.
Miclac! €. MeGuire was the first post inaster
of tha former and Andrew Stcele of the latter

The lirat Town meeting was convened at
the Tavern house of iiIrs. Dwyer, at which
Michael C. tlcGuire presided as [loderator,
who was ciected the first Supervisor of the
Town.

‘The nssessmont value of property for the
year 1850, including both real and personal,
wes 844300. The amount of tax computed
on the sume for eollection wis §641,71.

TOWN OF VERNGHN.

‘The Township of Vernon is bounded npon
the uorth by Libertyville, on the east by Dzer-
field, on the south by Cook County, and on
the west by Ela. Its secttlement was com-
menced simultaneously with that of Liberty-
ville, sometime in the year 1834.

Among the carly settlers were Captain
Wright, A. Talcott, Clark Knights, William
iaston, Seth Washburn, Esq., John Her-

.rick, John and Robhert Easton, Theron Par-
.sons, Hiram Kennicott, Matthias Mason, An-
,drew S. Wells, Elisha Gridley, John A. Mills,
Rufus Soules and Moses Putney.
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‘This Township is watered. by: the Des
Plains River and Indian Creek, which latter
strcam empties into the former. upon scction
23, noar which point was once an Indian;Vil-
lage, which gave risc to the name ofthe creek
upon which it wes  situated, (Indian Creek,)
which villzre we believe was called by the
Indians Metlawa; and was the Lowe of the
Indian Chief Flufdz, a Chiefofthe Pot:wata-
mie tribe, from wiectnthe present delightfui
village of Half:Day derives its naome.  In the
winter of 1836 and ’37, tue Half-Ray Post Of-
fice wae establised by the Post Office {o-
partment. 'The ponyer of the petitioners for
1his office, was, that it should be naed Haf-
dain houcr of thc Indiun Chicef befors nasned;
but it seems to have been the idea of tic De-
partmont, not uwderstanding the facts in the
case that the petitioners desired the nramc of
Half-Day, but that they had misspelled the
name and therefore oestablished the office
under the naune of Ilalf-Day; whicl: has al-
ways been a source of regret _to such of the
inhabitautsas were acquuinted with the cir-
cumstances, yet they have never applied fora
correction of the error, which it scems to us
that they certainly ought long since, to have
done.

The first saw mill erected in the County oi
Lake was erected in this Township by Iiram
Kennicott, Esq., upon the Des Plains River
at the point now known as Vincent’s mills.

The first school, for the instruction of youth
ever taught in the County, was also taught in
this Township at Half-Day, by John Easton
in 1837.

The first stock of goods opened in this
Township, was opened by John Eastonin
1837, a man of excellent business habits and
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qualifications,- and " who has, by close and
esntinued application, and strict economy,
accumulated a very comfortable fortune, and
has set for the young men of Lake County,
an example of enterprize well worthy of their
imitstion.

The Village of Half-Day, at the present
time contains some 200 inhabitants, the pro-
gress of which has been materially aided,
through the enterprize of Messrs. Jobn Eas-
ton, Seth Washburn,Esq., and Theron Par-
sons, It supports two good stores, affords
one of the best public houses in the western
country, and all such mechanics as are need-
ed in a country village, and like Libertyville,
has been favorably remembered by the
Church going community, who have erected
there a very fine Church.

The post offices of the Township are Half-
Day and Long Grove. The latter office was
established on the first of April, 1847, under
the name of Mutterschulz, and Michael Sig-
wald appointed postmaster, being in the
midst ot a german settlement, a german name
fur the post office, was very naturally selec-
ted. In December 1849 the namne wus chan-
ged to Long Grove, that being the name of
the grove oftimber, where it had been loca-
ted. Fred'k A. Ormsby is the present post-
master.

Like Libertyville, the lands upon the west
side of the Des Pluins, which comprisesabont
two-thirds of the extent of the Township, are
principally prairie with the ex:eption of some
two or three scattering groves of timber;
whilet thosc upon the east are heavily tim-
bered.

Full one-third of the population of this
Township is german, who are characterized
as peaceable, quiet, and industrious citizens.
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The first Town meeting was held at Ifulft
Day Village ; Matthius Mason presided as
:noderator ; and Robert M. Hamilton acted as
clerk. The following persons were elected
uy the first Town Olticers : Captain James
Moore, Bupervisor; Oiange Brace, 'Town
Clerk ; Plilander Stewart, Justico of the
Peace; Llisha Gridisy, Assessor; H. 1L
Hawkes, Job Y. 'Lripp and Irvin Ruth, Com-
missiouers of Highways ; J. W. Ayres, Cou-
stable and Coilecior ; ilobert Hamilton, Over-
scer of the Poor,

‘I'he as>: - .nent value of preperty in this
Towashij: 1o Jhe year 1850, was 110,418.00;
the amou::- 1 tax co'upated on the saine was
31,368.08. *

TOWN OF WAUCONDA.

Wauconda i3 one of tl:ose fractional Town-
ships upon tho west linc of the County. It is
hounded upon the north by Goodale, on the
cast by I'remont, on the south by Cuba, and
ou the west by McHenry County.

Among the carly setilers were Justice
Bangs, Esq., Elisha ifubbard, Mark Bangs,
Peter Blills, A.J. Seeber, D. H. Sherman,
Johm C. Wooster, Daniel Martin, W. H.
Hawkins, Thomas IF. Slocum, Stephen Rice.

The "Township is watered by Bangs’ Lake,
Slocums Lake, and two or three sinall ponds
net named. Bangs’ Lake takes its nawme from
Justice Bangs, Esq., who was the first settler
in its vicinity, and Slocum’s Lake trom Tho-
mas . Slocuin, who wus likewise an carly
settler in that vicinity, ‘L'be lands were ori-
«inally mostly woodlands and oak openings.
1t has, however, a small prairie, tormeriy
known to some extent as Rice’s Prairie, lying
immediately south of the Viilage of Forks-
ville, containing an a-ea of about 600 acres.

-

+ See Appendix,
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From the abundant supply of timber in
this Township, it has become quite thickly
settled. 'The population being made up ot'an
intelligent and industrious.class of farmers, 1t
has two very flourishing Villages—Wauconda
and Forksville.—The former is beautifully
located, in the south part of the Ttownship,
upon the western border of Bungs’ Lake, ou
the €hicago and Jaynesville stage road. The
latter islocated in the north part of the Town,
upon the route of the Lake and McHenry
Plank Road. It is a Village of recent growth,
and contains about 150 inhabitants. It affords
two Stores, a conmodious Hotel, and such
Mechanics as are usually found in like coun-
try Villages.

Limestone are found in abundance in thc
vicinity, and the burning of lime at this place,
hus been a source of considerable profit to
several individuals who have engaged in the
business.

Wauconda is a Village of about 200 inhab-
itants, or upwards, and affords three good
Stores, two Public Houses, and various Me-
chanics. Its location is delightful and as the
country advances, will become one of the
mos{delightful and pleasant Villages in thu
County.

Itis indebted for its rapid progress to J.
bangs, Isq., its original proprictor.

A Division of Sons of Temperance has re-
cently becn organized hers which speaks well
tor the sobriety and morality of its citizens.

The amounnt of school fund of this Town-
ship is 82,224 10,

The firat ‘Town Meeting was convened at
the Village of Wauconda. Jonathan Wood
was chosen Moderutor, and La Fayette
Mills ucted as Clerk.  The tollowing persons
were elected us Town Officers : Peter Mills,
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Supervisor ; La Fayette Mills, Town Clerk
Jamnes 8. Davis, Assessor; E. L. Huson,
Colleetor ; A. J. Secber, Andrew Cook, and
J. T. McKinney, Coimnmnssioners of Highways;
Hezard Green and J. H. Wesscher, Justice of’
the Peace ; E. L. Huson and Seth thll, Con-
stables.

‘I'he Assessment value of property for the
year 1830, inciuding both real and personal,
was 861,907 00. The smount of tax compu-
%1d on the saine was $6527 18,

TOWN OF WARREN,

'The Township of Warren is bounded upon
the north by Newport, on the east by \Wau-
kegan, on the south by Libertyville, and o
the west by Avon.

Among tho curly settlers were Samue!
Brookes, Esq., Thomas McClure, Amos 3en-
vett, L. W. Crnig, Avery Esty, Moscs Esty,
William Lovejoy, Abratn Blarsh, Wiliiam
Ladd, Esq., George A. Drury, Willard Jones,
Orange Sweith, Orlin B. Siith, David Gil-
more, and Amnzial Smitln.

Its scttlement was commenced in the year
1835, which was wostly in the vicinity of the
Les Plains River.

‘The natural enquiry, in tracing the cuorly
history of the western country, ig, who wus
the first white inhabitants, speaking in con-
tradistinction, of the Aberigines. Aho wri-
rar i informaed. that this point es far as ihe
Township ¢ Warren i3 coacerned hus been
well seitled.  Awmos Bennpert, a colored man,
and who was we believe the first per-on who
taid claim to, aud improved any of'the lands
ot'the Township, declared on a certnin occa-
xion, while thig matter was being discussed,
forgetting his own color, and speaking in con-
tradistinction of the Indiun race, that I:e was

7
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“tho first white man that ever planted coris
upon the O'Plain River, within the limits of
Luke County.”

The Township is watered by Gage’s 1st
Luke, and a part of the 2ud ; Mill Crecex and
the Des Plains River. Upon Rlill Creekthere
is an excellent Saw Mill and Grist Mill, own-
c¢d by DBloses Esty,—ciccted by Nathaniei
Vese, Esq.

T'l:e lands of this Township, are composed
of small prairies, interspersed with groves
und belts of timber.

The principal thoroughfurcs, Teading from
Waunkegan westward, south-westward, and
nortli-westward, puss through this Township-
among which are the Chicago and Milwau-
kiee, the Lake nid McHenry Plank Road,
aud the Beloit' 1.vad by the way of Antioch.

Ancient mounds, like those alluded to in
the Township of Newport, are also found in
this 'ownship.

The post offices of thc Township are Hart-
1ord and VWentwerth, which former office was
established in 1837, under the name of Abing-
don, and Samuel Brookes appointed Post-
master. The Wentworth post office, s0 na-
med in honor of the Hon. Johin Wentworth,
for many years a Member of Congress from
the old IVth Congressional District in this
State, and recently re-elected in the present
1Ind District, was established April 1st, 1847,
and Capt. Anson Kidder appointed Posts
1aster. )

The first Town Meeting, waz convened at
the School House, near the O'Plain House.
Nathaniel Vose, Esq., was chosen Moderator;
and Benjamin Schauber, Clerk. 'The follow-
ing persons were elected the first Town Offi-
cers : Havelia Whitney, Supervisor ; Benja-
min Schauber, Town Clerk ; Nathaniel Vose,
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sun., Assessor ; George A. Drury, Overseer
of the Poor; Levi Stafford, Collector ; A. M.
Pearsons, Alfred D. Whitmore, and Marcus
S. Marsh, Conunissioners of Highways ; Phil-
ip Blanchard and Havelia Whitney, Justices
of the Peace.

The Township is divided into eight school
districts, and has a school fund of $1,688 02.

In point of wealth, the Township of Wars
ren, ranks as the second Township in the
County. The nssessment value of property
for the year 1850 including both real and per-
sonal $114,989. The amouut of tax compn-
sod on the same for collection was $1,032 It

TOWN OF WAUKEGAN.

The Township of Waukegaun, is bounded
uponthe north by Benton, on the east by
Lake Michigan, on the south by Shields, and
on the west by Warren. Much of the eany
history; ot this Township has nlready been
incidentally given under the head of general
observations ; therefore whatever remains to
be added, wi}l be rather of a statistical nature
shan otherwise.

Among the early settlers of this Township
were Samuel Pellifant, -Charles S. Cary, Jas.
G. Cary, Elmsley Sunderlin, Peleg Sunder-
lin, Paul Kingston, James B. Gorton, Henry
Knapp, Hezekiah Bryant, D. 8. Dewey, Dr.
David Cory, Burleigh Hunt, Daniel Walters,
Cornelius Veiley, ‘i“,dward Snyder, Erastus
Blakesiey, Thos. B. Benjamin, W. B. Benja-
min, James McKay, Arthur Patterson, Capt.
Morris Robinson, and D. O. Dickinson.

The delightful and flourishing City of Wau-
kegan, (formerly called Little-Fort,) situated
upon Lake Michigan, within this Township,
was laid out in the spring of 1841, under the
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direction of the County Commissioners, Nel-
son Landon, Thomas H. Payne and Charles
H. Bartlett; the County having previously
acquired atitle to the land by virtue of pre-
cmption.  Atthis period, the place afforded
but one framed building, and some two or
three log cabins. The following summer tha
building now occupied by J. Y. Cory & Co,,
nsa Drygoods Store was ciccted by D. O.
Dickinson, Esq., a3 weli ns a small Ware-
house upon the Shoro of the Lake, necar the
mouth of the River. :

The comrmodivis [Tuizl, now known as tia
“Vollar I{ouse,” V3 i:ls0 crected the samic
season by James [iciiay, Tsq., as well as the
*Ruazle Betel,” by Thos. B. Benjamiu.

The unfortunate circumstance of the dis-
vuie of titic, ns well a3 the question of the
wegality ol'the location of the County Scat.
s00n arose, which scemed to cast a gloou:
nwer the prospecis of the young Village of’
Little-Fort, while its warmest and most sun-
zuine supporters, began ulniost to despair.

Many of them having invested here, vearly
every thing they posscssed i the world, in
unticipation of a bright future, were mos:
unwilling to abandon the cuterprize upon
which they had embarked, and at length witlh;
renewed energy and perseverance, resolved
most firmly to stand by the “sinking ship.,
These men were such us James McKay, D.O.
Dickinson, Dr. David Cory, D. 8. Dewey,
Arthur Patterson,and others.

A Bill had been introduced into the Legis-
lature, for the purpose of settling the guestion
of the location of the County Seat at this
point, and likewise a Bill in Congress for the
purpose of settling the question of title ; both
of which met with favor,and the anxiety and
suspense of the good peoplo of Little-Fort
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was at length putat rest. But the progress
of the Tov%n hl;d been much retardgd ; and
comparatively little was accomplished by way
of improvement until the year 1844, about
which time full confidence scemed to be re-
stored, and everything began to assume, in a
:neasure, & Prosperous appearance.

The following shows the population of the
‘Town as takcn at threo different perioda up to
e close of tho year iC 14,

Population, Aug. iCth, 1€42, =3
“ Jaw'ry Ist, 1544, 130
« « T Ist 1845, R

‘The fllowivg were the imports and =i
worts for the year 1844,
.IuronrTs.
Arrivals of Stcombeats and o-

ther Lake Crnils, 15:
Mercirdizo launced en the piar, 20201877 b
Lumber, “ “ €23, 7720 1t
Shingics, ¢ o 312M.

¢ Boitz, « i 153¢de.
3nit, “ i 75%hbly.
Flour, “ " 350 «
Furniture, ¢ 45 U3800 Ihs,
Casiings, L “o. 3 t's 460 1bs.
Pork & Beef] ¢ « 145bbls.

ExrponTe
‘Whaoeat shipped from the pior,  66,000bshls
QOats, “ “ 200 ¢

Furs, « “ 200 lbs.
Hides, * b 8,000 «
Pork, ¢ “ 13 bbls.

About 1,300 cords of woori was

sold to Steanmboats during the

season.

During the year 1844 many essential im-
provements were made, and quite an influ-
ence began to spread abrond in favor of this
yet young, but thriving Village.
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Public roads had been opened inte the
country in various directions, and wail routes
established in connexion with various points,
including additional nail service bLetween
Chicago and Milwaukee, touching at this
point—giving a daily mail.—Steamboats he-
ganalso to touch regularly, which, hitherto,
with one or two exceptions, had utterly refu-
sed to do so.—These favorable impres-
sions extending abroad, caused a rapid in-
crease of population and business.

The following statement shows the increast
of business up to the year 1849,

IumporTs 1y 1845.

Merchandize, - 361 s 281 lbs.
Lumber, 1,556,314 ft.
Shingles, 621 M.
u Bolts, 255¢’dx.
Salt, 971hbbls,
Flour, 662 «
Exports.
Wheat, 67,085bshls.
Hides, 44,634 1bs.
yool, 337 «
Steamboat Wood, 2,000 c'ds.
Arrivais of Steamboats, &c. 191.
Population of 1846, 759.
IMrjorTS,
Merchandize, G19tons.
Lumber, 3,105,525 feet.
Shingles, 316 M.
“  Bolts, 333 c'ds.
Salt, 700 bbls,
Flour, 553 «
Apples, 342 «
Machinery, 22,081 1bs.
Furniture, 1,950 bbles.
Wagons, 63
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ExroRrrTs.

Wheat, 181,022 bshls.
Oats, 7757 ¢
Corn, 1,856 «
Flax Seed, 794 «
Beans, 196 «
Barley, 1,000 *
Butter, 6.000 1bs.
Merchandize, 37,100 «
Shingles, “
Stearmnboat wood, 3,000 ¢

Arrivals of Steamboats,

349

Population of 1847, 1,247.

IxPoRTS.

Merchandize, 472 tony,
Lumber, 3,455,652 feet.
Shingles, 316 M.
“ Bolts, 150 c’d».
Salt, 1,624bbls,
Flour, 193 ¢
Apples, by
Water Lime, 9 s
Machinery, 21,386 lbe,
Furniture, 2,405bbls.
Wagons, 61
ExPoRrTS
Wheat, 167,878bshls,
Oats, 7,634 ¢«
Corn, 1,218 «
Beans, 106«
Barley, 1,134 ¢
Butter, 6,282 1bs.
Woeel, 5,605
Merchand ze, 556
Pork, 73 hbls,
Hides, 784 1bs.
Steam Boat Wood, 5.458 c'ds
" Arrivals of Steamboats, &c. 459

——
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Population of 1848, 2,025
IMpPonrTs

Merchandize, 985 tons.
Lumber, 4,879,563 feet.
Shingles, 762 M.

“ Bolts, 362 c’ds.
Tan Bark, 36 «
Salt, 1,974 bb!s
Flour, M4«
Apples, 1,192 «
‘Water Lime, 162 «
Machinery, 53,804 1he.
Ship Chandlery, 8,760 «
Furniture, 3214 «
Fruit Trees, 873b'dls.
Wagons, 78

ExrorTs

Wheat, 217,848bshls.
Oats. 13,683«
Corn, 2,710 «
Barley, 430 «
Beans, 183 «
Potatoes, 5,465
Onions, 138 ¢«
Fierchandize, 486,750 lbs.
Burter, 13,604 «
Hams, 14,480 «
Lard, 5,761 «
Corn [eal, 15,102 «
Voo, 5192 «
Pork, 511 bbls.
Fggs, W«
Hides, 948 1bs..
sSteamn Boat Wood, 3,784 c'ds.

Arrivals ot Steamboats, &e GG6

The Village of Little-Fort having at length

swelled its papulation to about 2,500 inhabi-
tants ; upon application to the Legislature at
its Sevsionin 1849, it became incorporated



TOWN OP WAUKEGAN. 107

for municipal purprses, by an Act, Approved
February 12th ; in which was inserted a pro-
vision, that at the first election for Town Bﬁ-
cers, the inhabitants might change the name
of the Town, to Waukegan ; which election
was held on the second Monday in March,
1849, at which the following persons were
elected as Officers : ,

President—D. O. Dickinson.

‘Trustees ot Iirst Ward—W. C. Tiflany and
H. Hugunin.

Trustees of Second Ward—Jas. B. Gorton
and A. Dougherty.

Trust ees of Third Ward—E. 8. L. Bach ei~
dor and Ransom Stecle.

When by a unanimous vote of the inhabi-
tants at the same election, the name of the
Town was changed to Waukezan, it being
the Indian word, in the Potawotamiic tongue
for Little-Fort.

The following stntement shows tl:e Imports
and Exports of Wankegan from 1350 to 185%
inclusive ; that of 15649 we are unable to give.

Population of 15350, 3,0G5.
InroRrrTs.
Merchandize, 1,202 rous.
Lumber, (all kinds,) 5,500,000 feet.
Tan Bark, 175 tous.
Sale, 2,000 bbla.
Machinery, 57 tons.
Household Goods, 46 tons.
Apples. 1,475 bbls.
hiskey, 487 «
Fruit Trees, 7,150
Stoves, 463
Wagons and Curriages, 35
Threshing Macltines,. 13
Candles, 225 bx’s.

Coal, 150 tons.
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ExrorrTs.

Wheat, 144,243bshls,
Oanty, 3,675
Barley, 950 ¢
Hickory Nuts, 156 «
Timothy Seed, 145 ¢«
Flour, 1,527 Dble.
Beef, 408 «
Porh, 150 «
Wool, (124 Bales,) 18,962 ‘lbs.
Brooms, 5,000
Hides, 793
Wood, 3,440 c'dr.
Ship Knees, 200 tone.
Benns, 6 bbls.
Lard. 3«

Arrivals of Steambonts, &ec., 1,095,

iMPORRTS OF 1851,

Merchandize, . 2,300 tons.
Household Furnitare, (bbls. buld,) 710
Lumber, 4,593,000 feet.
Bath, - 475,000
Shingles, 585,000
Salt, 2,804 bbls
Apples, 809 *
W hiskey, 451 “
£lour, 371«
‘Water Lime, 210 «
Vinegar, 89 -
Broom Corn, 108bales
‘*  Handles, 21,300
‘Wagons, 36
. ExporrTs.
‘Wheat,; 163,928 bshls.
ats, 53,4930 *
Corn, 28,874 ¢
Barleg, 8,943 ¢
Flax Seed, 1,432 ¢
Grass Seed, 47 bbls,
Flowm, 8340 *

Pork, 250
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Eggs, 6 «
Lard, 32«
Buuter, 220fir'ks.
Woul, 35,800 1bs.
Brooms, 610 doz.
Dry Hides, 710 1bs.
Arrivals of Stea nboats, &c., 1,058.
Population of 1852, 4.560
IMmponrTs FOR 1852
Merchandize, 2,145 tons. -
Salt, 3,350 bbls.
Water Lime, 430 *
Household Farniture, (bbls, bulk,, 1,485
Lumber, 3,48,338 feet.
‘Apples, 2,228 bbls.
agons, 83
ExpPeRrTs.
‘Wheat, 235,879 bshls,
Oaus, 193,638 *
Corn, 12,704 ¢
Barley, 20,153 «
Flax Seed, 3,028 «
Timothy Seed, 750 ¢
Flour, 5,752 bbls.
Merchandize, Furniture, &c., 170 tons,
Pork, 665 bbls.
Hams, 195 c’ks.
Lard, GG bbls.
Butter, 1,114 tubs.
Lg8s, 225 bbls.
‘Wagons, 49
Reapers, 30
Sh‘iip Knees, 50 tons.
Hides, 530
Empty Barrels, 1,220
‘Wool, 44,149 lbs.
Flax Tow, 135,835 Ibs.
ood 2,288 <'ds.

Wood,

Arrivalsof Steamboats, &c., 1,247, and 32,600
tonage burthen employed.

‘The foregoing statements, will serve in a
pretty full degree, to give the reader an idea
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of the rapid growt: of Waukegan, and of its
still increasing importance. All of which can-
not but prove most flattering to those enter-
prising spirits, who 8o zealously advocated its
cause in early days.

We believe it is universally conceded, that
for health and beauty of location, the City of
Waukegan, has norival upon the shores of
Lake Michigan, and we coufidently believe,
that upon the completion of the Lake Shore
Rail Road, locations for residences, will be
sought for, here with an eagerncss beyoud
the expectation of its most sanguine fricnds,
and that very many business men of Chicago,
will make their residences here,—especially
in summer,—wkhilst their business will re-
maoin at'Chicago
. Waukegan is favored with the followin
religious societies—Baptists, Rev. Coggshall,
Pastor—Congregational, Rev. Richardy, Pas-
tor—Catholic, Rev. Coyle, Pastor—Episco-
pal, Rev. -———Pastor—DMethodist, Rev. Jonen,
P’astor—Methodist, (German) Rev. Roth, Pas-
tor—all of which (exceptihe last mentioned)
have good and commodious houses of wor-
ship, which reflects great credit upon the in-
.habitants of the City.

Sacret Orders.—One Masonic Lodge—
oneof]. 0.of O. F. and an Encampment—
Mechanics’ Mutual Protéction, No. 4—Divi-
sion cf Sons of Temperance— Daughters Uni-
on—and Section of Cadets. :

Antappropriation of 815,000, has lately
tieen made by the Generul Government, for
the imp-ovement of the Ilarbor here, which
will be expended the ensuing season ; all of
which will tend greatly to add confidemce,
and give an impulse to business.

The first Town Meeting for the organiza-
tion of the Township of Waukegan, was con-
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vened at the Court House. Daniel Brewer

resided as Moderator, and Nathaniel P.
Bovut acted asClerk. The following per-
sons were chosen as Town Officers : James
B. Gorton, Supervisor ; George Wood, Town
Clerk ; S. H. Flinn, Assessor ; Jeremiah
Porter, Overseer of ttre Poor; William B.
Benjamin,Jacob Montgemery and Eber Hink-
ston, Commissioners of Highways ; John L.
Turner, and Philip Kiung, Justices of the
Peace ; L. Belshaw, and Harley Sage, Con-
stables; and Harley Sage, Collector. The
number of votes cast was 302. The Townw
ship has a school fund of $3,600 40.

The assessment value of property for the
year 1850, ineluding both real and personal,
was $365,659. The amount of tax computed
on the same for collection was $5,756 25.

APPENDIX.

After the appearance of our account of the
Town of Vernow, ik the “Waukegan Ga-
zette,” we received the following letter from
Seth Washburn, Esq., which shows that we
were misinformed in relation to sowmne items
of interest, connected with the history of this
'{‘ownship. We have therefore, taken the
liberty of inserting the letter at length, as the
best methiod of setting the matter right.

HaLr-Dar, ILr.,, Fes. 9th, 1853.

. E. M. Haines, Esq.—Dzag Sir :—In look-
ing over your Historical Record of the Town
of Vernon, I perceive that you have been

a"ziend
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misinformed in relution to the following
items : First—In the list of names of the
early scttlers you have omitted some who
were the first gettlers and inserted others who
catne here after the year 1834 and 1833, and
even up to 1838 and 1839. Second—In rela-
tion to the first school taught in' this Town.
Third—In relation to the first stock of goods
opeued in this Township. Again—In regard
to the post-oflice; it was established in Au-
gust 1836, and was the first established on
this road, north of Chicago, up to the State
line. Hiram Kennicott opened a stock of

vods in the year 1835, at Mettawa. John
Enston commenced -merchandizing here in
the fall of 1838. The first echool that was
taught in this Township, was taught by Laura
B. Sprague, in the year 1836 and '37. I  will
now give you a list of some of the early set-
lers, viz : Theron Parsvns, Daniel Wright,
Hiram Kennicott, and Mr. Cooley of
1834; and James Chambers, Clark Knights,
Alonzo Cook, Foody Rowd, Henry Walton,
Jonathan Rice, Win. Easton, B. F. Washburn,
J. M. Washburn, Asahel Talcott, Roswell
Rose, with many ‘'more who might be men.
tioned, of 1835. I suppose that your Statistics
ofour Town will be kept as a County Record, °
and deeming it necessary that they should be
corrected, 1 have with the most friendly feel-
ings communicated the above.

Yours, with due respect ;
SETH WASHBURN.
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